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Notice of Hearing before United States Bankruptcy Judge

Please be advised that the bankruptcy trustee filed a motion for an order approving (i) the
Settlement Agreement with the U.S. Government; (i) Transfer of Seized Funds in
Accordance with the Settlement Agreement Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § § 363 and 1520(a)(2);
and (iii) Repatriation of Released Funds to Japan for distribution in the Japan Bankruptcy
Proceedings Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 1520(b), and, in addition, that the hearing for the said
motion has been scheduled for April 24, 2017 (Central Time, U.S.).

For the details of the motion and the notice of hearing, please see the following pages.



David J. Molton (admitted pro hac vice)
Daniel J. Sava (admitted pro hac vice)
Brown Rudnick LLP

Seven Times Square

New York, New York 10036
Telephone: (212) 209-4800

Facsimile: (212) 209-4801

Email: dmolton@brownrudnick.com
Email: dsaval @brownrudnick.com

-and -

Marcus A. Helt (TX 24052187)
Thomas Scannell (TX 24070559)
Gardere Wynne Sewell LLP

2021 McKinney Avenue, Suite 1600
Dadlas, TX 75201

Telephone: (214) 999-3000
Facsimile: (214) 999-4667

Email: mhelt@gardere.com

Email: tscannell @gardere.com

Counsel for Nobuaki Kobayashi, in his capacity

as the Bankruptcy Trustee and Foreign Representative

of MtGox Co., Ltd., a’k/a MtGox KK

IN THE UNITED STATESBANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
DALLASDIVISION

Inre

MtGox Co., Ltd. (alk/a MtGox KK),

Debtor in aForeign Proceeding.

Chapter 15

Case No. 14-31229-sgj-15

FOREIGN REPRESENTATIVE'SMOTION
FOR AN ORDER APPROVING (1) SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENT WITH U.S. GOVERNMENT: (I1) TRANSFER OF
SEIZED FUNDSIN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENT, PURSUANT TO 11 U.S.C. §§ 363 AND 1520(a)(2); AND
(I11) REPATRIATION OF RELEASED FUNDS TO JAPAN FOR DISTRIBUTION
IN THE JAPAN BANKRUPTCY PROCEEDING PURSUANT TO 11 U.S.C § 1521(b)




Nobuaki Kobayashi, in his capacity as the bankruptcy trustee and foreign representative

(the “Foreign Representative’) of MtGox Co., Ltd., ak/a MtGox KK (the “Debtor” or

“MtGox”), a debtor in a bankruptcy proceeding under Japanese law (the “Japan Bankruptcy”),

currently pending before the Twentieth Civil Division of the Tokyo District Court, Japan (the
“Tokyo Court”), by his undersigned U.S. counsel, hereby respectfully submits this motion (the
“Motion”) seeking entry of an order substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit H (the
“Order”): (i) approving the settlement agreement between the United States Attorney’s Office
for the District of Maryland (the “Government”) and the Foreign Representative (the “ Settlement
Agreement”), attached hereto as Exhibit A1, pursuant to sections 363 and 1520(a)(2) of title 11

of the United States Code (the “Bankruptcy Code’), insofar as the Settlement Agreement

provides for atransfer of an interest of the Debtor in property in the United States; (ii) pursuant
to Sections 363 and 1520(a)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code, approving the transfer of $2,571,201.10

of the Seized Funds (the “Released Funds’) to the Foreign Representative and the forfeiture of

$2,571,201.10 of the Seized Funds (the “Forfeited Funds’) to the Government in accordance

with the Settlement Agreement; and (iii) pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Section 1521(b),
approving the repatriation of the Released Funds to Japan for distribution in the Japan
Bankruptcy. In support of this Motion, the Foreign Representative also submits the Declaration

of Nobuaki Kobayashi (the “Kobayashi Declaration”) attached hereto as Exhibit B, and

respectfully states as follows:

Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Settlement
Agreement.



PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

1. In 2013, prior to the commencement of MtGox’s Japanese bankruptcy
proceedings and this Chapter 15 case, the United States government, acting through the United
States Secret Service and the United States Homeland Security Investigations arm of the
Department of Homeland Security, seized a total amount of $5,142,402.20 (the “ Seized Funds”)
from bank accounts of a MtGox affiliate located in the United States. The seizures were
prompted by the United States government’ s assertion that MtGox, through an affiliate, operated
an unlicensed money transmitting business in the United States in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1960.
The United States government’s assertion was supported by multiple affidavits that led a U.S.
Magistrate Judge to find that probable cause existed to believe that the MtGox affiliate, which
processed funds relating to MtGox’s U.S. customers to and from the bitcoin exchange through an
online payment processor in the U.S., violated the statute during the course of MtGox’s U.S.
bitcoin operations.

2. As previoudly stated at status conferences before this Court, the Foreign
Representative has been involved in extensive negotiations with the Government to resolve the
issues related to the Seized Funds. As a result of these negotiations, the Government and
Foreign Representative, on behalf of the Debtor, have agreed to transfer the Released Funds,
representing 50% of the Seized Funds, to the Foreign Representative pursuant to the Settlement
Aqgreement.

3. For the following reasons, the Foreign Representative respectfully submits this
Court should approve the Settlement Agreement and authorize the Released Funds to be
transferred to the Foreign Representative and repatriated to Japan for distribution in the Japan

Bankruptcy, which has been recognized as a foreign main proceeding by this Court.



4, Firdt, the transfer of the Released Funds to the Foreign Representative is a sound
business decision because the Settlement Agreement was the result of an extensive, arm’s-length
settlement process, the Settlement Agreement avoids the significant risks and expenses of
litigation with the U.S. government, and the Released Funds will subsequently be used for
distribution in MtGox’ s recognized Japan Bankruptcy in accordance with the Bankruptcy Act of
Japan.

5. Second, the repatriation of the Released Funds to Japan is warranted because the
interests of United States creditors are sufficiently protected in Japan, where the Japan
Bankruptcy (i.e., the foreign main proceeding) is being administered and where all creditor
claims are aready being adjudicated.

6. Third, repatriation of the Released Funds is justified as a matter of public policy.
The public policy objectives of Chapter 15 of the Bankruptcy Code are advanced by the
repatriation of the Released Funds here because repatriation will materially aid the Foreign
Representative’ s efforts to maximize recoveries for, and provide for an equitable distribution of
value among, al creditors. Furthermore, repatriation will assist the Foreign Representative in
providing creditor distributions in an economically efficient manner.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

7. This Court has jurisdiction to consider this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 88 157
and 1334. Thisisacore proceeding pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 157(b)(2)(P).
8. Venue for this proceeding is proper before this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 8§

1409 and 1410.



9. The statutory and legal predicates for the relief requested herein are Bankruptcy
Code Sections 363, 1520(a), and 1521(b), and this Court’s Order Recognizing Foreign Main

Proceeding and Granting Related Relief [Docket No. 151] (the “ Recognition Order”).

BACKGROUND

10. In May and June of 2013, the U.S. Government, acting through either the U.S.
Secret Service or the U.S. Homeland Security Investigations arm of the Department of
Homeland Security, executed two (2) seizures against a MtGox affiliate’s U.S. bank accounts
based on seizure warrants signed by a United States Magistrate Judge in the United States

District Court for the District Of Maryland (the “Maryland Court”).2 The total amount of U.S.

Currency seized pursuant to the three seizure warrants described above is $5,142,402.20, which
constitutes the Seized Funds. The Government currently holds the Seized Fundsin the District of
Maryland.

11.  The seizures were precipitated and supported by affidavits from Special Agents
with the United States Secret Service and Homeland Security Investigations.3 According to the
affiants, there was probable cause to believe that the contents of bank accounts in the name of
Mutum Sigillum LLC (*Mutum”), an affiliate of MtGox, were involved in transactions and
attempted transactions in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1960 and that Mutum was engaged in the
“unlicensed money transmitting business’ in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1960 since December of

2011. As aresult, the contents of the bank accounts were subject to seizure under 18 U.S.C. §

2 Additional ly, under athird seizure warrant, the U.S. Secret Service seized a check in the amount of $109,479.84
drawn from a Wells Fargo Bank N.A. account in the name of MtGox North America, Inc., a MtGox subsidiary.
Those funds are included in the total amount of Seized Funds that are addressed in the Settlement Agreement.

3 The affidavits of Special Agents Shaun Bridges and Michael T. McFarland and the resultant seizure warrants
are attached hereto as Exhibit C and D, respectively.



981.4 On the basis of the affidavits, a United States Magistrate Judge for the District of
Maryland found probable cause that the bank accounts were subject to seizure under 18 U.S.C. §
981 and signed warrants to effectuate the seizures.>

12. Mutum was used for the processing of funds relating to MtGox’s U.S. customers
to and from the bitcoin exchange through an online payment processor, Dwolla, which was
located in lowa. In order to facilitate trades on the MtGox exchange, Mutum funded its Dwolla
account from its Wells Fargo account. Additionally, MtGox would transfer, by international
wire transfer, funds from Sumitomo Mitsui Bank in Japan in the name of Mt. Gox Company Ltd.
for the benefit of the Mutum Wells Fargo account. After the funds were credited to the Mutum
WEells Fargo account, they were frequently disbursed to the Dwolla account to purchase bitcoins

which would then be registered on MtGox’ s bitcoin registry.6

4 Money transmitting businesses are required by 31 U.S.C. § 5330 to register as such with the U.S. Department of
Treasury’s Financia Crimes Enforcement Network (“FinCen”). A violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1960 occurs when a
person or entity “conducts, controls, manages, supervises, directs, or owns all or part of an unlicensed money
transmitting business’ 18 U.S.C. §1960(a), with the term “‘unlicensed money transmitting business’ mean[ing]
a money transmitting business which . . . (B) fails to comply with the money transmitting business registration
requirements under section 5330 of United States Code, or regulations prescribed under such section . .. .” 18
U.S.C. 81960(b)(1)(B). On March 18, 2013 FinCen issued guidance on the application of FinCen’s regulations
to bitcoin operations, stating that an administrator or exchanger of virtual currencies is a money transmitter
under FinCen’s regulations and must register. See FIN-2013-G001, “Application of FInCEN’s Regulations to
Persons Administering, Exchanging, or Using Virtual Currencies,” March 18, 2013. 18 U.S.C. § 981 provides
that any personal property involved in atransaction or attempted transaction in violation or 18 U.S.C. § 1960 is
subject to forfeiture to the U.S. See 18 U.S.C. § 981.

S In the interests of disclosure, the Foreign Representative notes that in March 2015, Special Agent Shaun W.
Bridges of the U.S. Secret Service and one of the affiants with respect to the seizures, was charged with wire
fraud, money laundering and related offenses committed during the U.S. Secret Service's investigation of Silk
Road. The Silk Road marketplace was an underground black market that allowed vendors and buyers to conduct
illegal transactions over the internet. However, during negotiations with the Foreign Representative over the
Settlement Agreement, the Government strongly took the position that Mr. Bridges arrest did not affect
liability on the criminal acts alleged or the Government’'s ability to prosecute the actions, including by
establishing predicate facts through other witnesses and evidence if necessary.

6 Although Mutum was used for the processing of funds in connection with the operation of the MtGox exchange,
Mutum is a company wholly owned by Robert Marie Mark Karpeles. As the Court is aware, Mr. Karpelesis
the founder of MtGox and its former sole director, but no longer has any control over MtGox.



13. On February 28, 2014, the Debtor filed a petition (“Japan Petition”) for the

commencement of a civil rehabilitation proceeding (the “Japan Civil Rehabilitation”) in the

Tokyo Court pursuant to Article 21(1) of the Japanese Corporate Reorganization Act.

14. On March 9, 2014, the Debtor filed the Verified Petition for Recognition and
Chapter 15 Relief [Docket No. 2] in this Court seeking, inter alia, recognition of the Japan Civil
Rehabilitation as aforeign main proceeding under Chapter 15 of the Bankruptcy Code.

15. By orders entered on April 16, 2014, the Tokyo Court placed the Debtor in a
provisional administration by dismissing the Japan Petition and appointing Mr. Kobayashi as the
Debtor’s provisona administrator pending the commencement of a bankruptcy proceeding

under the Bankruptcy Act of Japan (the “Bankruptcy Act”). On April 24, 2014, the Tokyo Court

entered an order (the “Bankruptcy Order”) formally commencing the Debtor’ s Japan Bankruptcy

and appointing Mr. Kobayashi as the Debtor’ s bankruptcy trustee.
16. On May 23, 2014, the Foreign Representative filed his Amended Verified Petition

for Recognition and Chapter 15 Relief (the “ Amended Recognition Petition”) [Docket No. 126]

requesting, inter alia, that the Japan Bankruptcy be recognized as aforeign main proceeding.

17. On June 18, 2014, this Court entered the Recognition Order, recognizing the
Japan Bankruptcy as a foreign main proceeding under Bankruptcy Code Sections 1517(a) and
1517(b)(1). By the Recognition Order, the Court also granted certain other relief, including:
(i) recognizing the Foreign Representative as the foreign representative of the Debtor; and
(if) ordering that the Foreign Representative is entitled to the full protections and rights
enumerated under section 1521(a)(4) and 1521(a)(5) of the Bankruptcy Code, including, inter
alia, entrusting the Foreign Representative with the administration and realization of all of the

Debtor’ s assets within the territoria jurisdiction of the United States.



18. In 2014, subsequent to the seizures of the Seized Funds and the appointment of
the Foreign Representative as the bankruptcy trustee for MtGox in the Japan Bankruptcy,
counsel for the Foreign Representative, on behalf of the Debtor, contacted the Government to
commence discussions and negotiations in an effort to obtain the return of the Seized Funds and
their repatriation to Japan for use in distributions in the Japan Bankruptcy.

19.  While the Debtor has a right to a trial if the Government filed a forfeiture case
with respect to the Seized Funds, the Foreign Representative sought to avert a trial and its
incumbent risks, delays and expenses by reaching a fair and expedited resolution to the matter.
One unique and substantial hurdle the Debtor faces in litigating a forfeiture case against the
Government is overcoming the burden placed on a private litigant in wresting property seized
under the forfeiture statute from the U.S. government, which acquires title to the property as of
the date of the alleged wrongdoing. See infra I 28. The Debtor thus faces losing all of the
Seized Funds to the U.S. government if it chooses to litigate.

20. The Foreign Representative, through his U.S. counsel, and the Government
engaged in extensive, arms’ length negotiations on the matter, and ultimately reached agreement
on the terms set forth in the Settlement Agreement.”

THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

21. Following lengthy negotiations between the parties, in February 2017, the Foreign
Representative and the Government agreed to the terms of the Settlement Agreement, which
releases one-half of the Seized Funds to the Foreign Representative and alleviates the risk and

expense of engaging in civil litigation with the Government parties.

7 The Forei gn Representative notes that the resolution embodied in the Settlement Agreement was agreed to in
February 2016, approximately one year ago. However, the Settlement Agreement required formal approval by
personnel with the Department of Justice in Washington, D.C. That approval was not given until the end of
January 2017, which the DOJ s representatives informed Brown Rudnick is not atypical.



22. A summary of the key terms of the Settlement Agreement is as follows:8

i The Government agrees to release a total of $2,571,201.10, of the Seized
Funds, representing fifty percent (50%) of the Seized Funds (the
“Released Funds’), to the Foreign Representative, on behalf of the Debtor.

ii. The Foreign Representative, on behalf of MtGox, agrees to withdraw its
claims as to the remaining Seized Funds, and agrees to forfeit all rights,
title, and interest in that portion of the Seized Funds to the Government.

iii. MtGox agrees to indemnify and hold the Government harmless from and
against all clams, damages, losses, and actions resulting from or arising
out of the release of the Released Funds to MtGox, provided, however,
that MtGox’ s obligation to the Government under the indemnity provision,
if any, shall not exceed the amount of the Released Funds.

V. The Settlement Agreement shall only be effective upon (i) the entry of an
order by the Chapter 15 Court or any other court of competent jurisdiction
(a) approving the Settlement Agreement; (b) approving the transfer of the
Released Funds to the Foreign Representative pursuant to Sections 363
and 1520(a)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code; (c) approving the repatriation of
the Released Funds to Japan for use in the Japan Bankruptcy pursuant to
Section 1521(b) of the Bankruptcy Code; and/or (d) any other and further
relief necessary to effectuate this Agreement; and (ii) the entry of an order
by the Tokyo Court approving the Settlement Agreement and granting any
other and further relief necessary to effectuate the Agreement.

23. On February 2, 2017, the Tokyo Court approved the Settlement Agreement. A
copy of the Tokyo Court’s approva order is attached hereto as Exhibit E, and a copy of the
Tokyo Court’s approval order trandlated into English is attached hereto as Exhibit F.

RELIEF REQUESTED

24. By this Motion, the Foreign Representative seeks the entry of an Order,
substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit H, (i) approving the Settlement Agreement
pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Sections 363 and 1520(a)(2) insofar as it provides for the transfer

of an interest of the Debtor in property in the United States; (ii) pursuant to Bankruptcy Code

8 The summary of the Settlement Agreement set forth herein is provided solely for the convenience of the Court,
and is not intended to be a comprehensive recitation of the terms of the Settlement Agreement. To the extent
that there is any inconsistency between the summary and the actual terms of the Settlement Agreement, the
actual terms of the Settlement Agreement control.



Sections 363 and 1520(a)(2), approving the transfer of Released Funds to the Foreign
Representative and the forfeiture of the Forfeited Funds to the Government in accordance with
the Settlement Agreement; and (iii) pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Section 1521(b), approving
the repatriation of the Released Funds to Japan for distribution in the Japan Bankruptcy.

BASISFOR RELIEF REQUESTED

Transfer of the Released Fundsto the Foreign Representative
Should be Approved under Bankruptcy Code Section 1520(a) and 363(b).

25.  Section 1520(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, provides that “[u]pon recognition of a
foreign proceeding that is a foreign main proceeding—(2) sections 363, 549, and 552 apply to a
transfer of an interest of the debtor in property that is within the territoria jurisdiction of the
United States to the same extent that the sections would apply to property of an estate . . . .” 11
U.S.C. 8§ 1520(8)(2). The Foreign Representative respectfully submits that the transfer of the
Released Funds to the Foreign Representative and agreement to forfeit the Forfeited Funds to the
Government should be approved as an exercise of the Foreign Representative's sound business
judgment under Bankruptcy Code Sections 1520(a)(2) and 363(b).

26.  While the Fifth Circuit has not directly addressed the issue, other Courts have
held that Bankruptcy Code Section 1520(a)(2) requires bankruptcy courts to review transactions
that are outside the ordinary course in Chapter 15 cases in the same manner as they would in a

Chapter 11 case. See In re Fairfield Sentry Ltd., 768 F.3d 239, 246 (2d Cir. 2014) (“The

language of section 1520(a)(2) is plain; the bankruptcy court is required to conduct a section 363
review when the debtor seeks a transfer of an interest in property within the territoria

jurisdiction of the United States.”); In re Elpida Memory, Inc., 2012 WL 6090194 at *1 (Bankr.

D. Ddl. Nov. 20, 2012) (stating that courts should review transfers pursuant to Bankruptcy Code

Section 1520(a)(2) under the same legal standards that it would review a “transfer by a trustee

10



outside the ordinary course of business, i.e., is the transaction a sound exercise of the trustee's
business judgment”).

27.  Inthe Fifth Circuit, courts determine whether to authorize the use, sale, or |lease of
property of the estate under Bankruptcy Code Section 363(b) by requiring the debtor to show

that a sound business purpose justifies such actions. See Inre ASARCO, L.L.C., 650 F.3d 593,

601 (5th Cir. 2011) (“*[F]or the debtor-in-possession or trustee to satisfy its fiduciary duty to the
debtor, creditors and equity holders, there must be some articulated business justification for

using, selling, or leasing the property outside the ordinary course of business.’”) (quoting In re

Cont’'l Air Lines, Inc., 780 F.2d 1223, 1226 (5th Cir. 1986)); In re Moore, 608 F.3d 253, 263 (5th
Cir. 2010) (“A sale of assets under 8 363 . . . is subject to court approval and must be supported
by an articulated business justification, good business judgment, or sound business reasons.”).
Furthermore, “[u]nless the manner in which an estate representative arrives at a decision is

serioudly flawed, the court will defer to the estate representative.” In re Broughton Ltd. P ship,

474 B.R. 206, 218 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. 2012) (citing In re Pilgrim’s Pride Corp., 403 B.R. 413,

427 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. 2009) (“The court must ensure the decision-making process used by a
debtor in possession in exercising its powers under the Codeis a sensible one.”).

28.  The Foreign Representative has determined in his business judgment that the
Settlement Agreement is justified and in the best interests of MtGox creditors. To be sure, the
Foreign Representative would contest the alleged crimes in any litigation against the
Government. However, the risks of litigating against the U.S. government for the full amount of
the Seized Funds, for whom litigation costs and tempora delay are no issue, are great and
present a serious chance of the Debtor recovering none of the Seized Funds. Those risks are

especially pronounced here, where it would be the Debtor’s burden to wrest title away from the

11



U.S. government in the litigation.® Specifically, the federal forfeiture statute provides that “[a]ll
right, title, and interest in property [subject to forfeiture] shall vest in the United States upon
commission of the act giving rise to forfeiture under this section.” 18 U.S.C. § 981(f). The
statute further provides that “[p]roperty taken or detained under this section shall not be
repleviable, but shall be deemed to be in the custody of the Attorney General . . ., subject only to
the orders and decrees of the court or official having jurisdiction thereof.” 18 U.S.C. 8§ 981(c).
These risks only compound the underlying risk in any litigation—that the Foreign Representative
may lose, after incurring significant costsin that litigation.

29. Here, the Foreign Representative submits that transfers provided under the
Settlement Agreement amply meet the Fifth Circuit’'s business judgment standard. The
negotiation process between the Foreign Representative and the Government was extensive and
the Foreign Representative believes the Settlement Agreement represents the best deal possible
under the circumstances. See Kobayashi Decl. 1 11-14. The transfer of the Released Funds
from the Government to the Foreign Representative is the result of an arm’s-length negotiation
process, avoids the unnecessary risks, delays and expenses related to potential litigation over the
underlying seizures, and benefits all of MtGox’s creditors because the Released Funds, upon
transfer to the Foreign Representative, will be available for distribution in the Japan Bankruptcy.

Seeid.10

9 To overcome this burden, MtGox would need to prevail at trial on the predicate offense of operating as an
unlicensed money transmitting business.

10 TheForei on Representative notes that MtGox is required to indemnify the Government against claims resulting
from or arising out of the release of the Released Funds to MtGox. This was a condition that the Government
insisted upon through the negotiations of the Settlement Agreement. However, the Government agreed to limit
MtGox’'s indemnification obligations, if any, to the amount of Released Funds. Moreover, the risk of the
indemnification obligation being triggered is very low, taking into account, among other things, that no U.S.
creditor has an interest in the Seized Funds. See Kobayashi Decl. 13, n.6.

12



30. To the extent the Court considers it appropriate to review the matter as a
settlement pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 9019, that standard has been met.11 Bankruptcy courts
“should approve a settlement only when the settlement is fair and equitable and in the best

interest of the estate.” Matter of Foster Mortg. Corp., 68 F.3d 914, 917 (5th Cir. 1995) (citing

Jackson Brewing Co., 624 F.2d 599, 602 (5th Cir. 1980). Central to the analysisis a balance of

the “terms of the compromise with the likely rewards of litigation.” I1d. (internal quotations
omitted). The Fifth Circuit applies a three-part test when considering compromise settlements:

(1) the probability of success in the litigation, with due
consideration for the uncertainty in fact and law,

(2) the complexity and likely duration of the litigation and any
attendant expense, inconvenience and delay, and

(3) dl other factors bearing on the wisdom of the compromise.

I1d. (quoting Jackson Brewing, 624 F.2d at 609).

31.  Asdiscussed above, each factor considered by courts in the Fifth Circuit weighs
in favor of authorizing the Settlement Agreement. For the first factor, the Foreign
Representative stands across the table from the U.S. federal government, which is in possession
of the Seized Funds, has developed evidence in support of multiple search and seizure warrants,
and persuaded a U.S. Magistrate Judge to find probable cause that MtGox, through an affiliate,
was operating an unlicensed money transmitting business. The second factor has aready been
addressed, but it bears repeating that the Foreign Representative must, in litigation, weather the
full resources of the U.S. federal government, for whom a lengthy litigation poses no downside.

Finally, the Settlement Agreement represents a near-term return of significant assets to the Japan

11 The Forei gn Representative notes that there is uncertainty whether Bankruptcy Rule 9019 appliesin Chapter 15
cases. SeeIn re Ace Track Co., Ltd., 556 B.R. 887, 909 (Bankr. N.D. IIl. 2016) (applying Bankruptcy Rule
9019 to a settlement in a Chapter 15 case but recognizing that “[a]n argument certainly could be raised that Rule
9019 should not apply . . . [a]sin chapter 9 cases, there is no bankruptcy estate.”) (citing In re City of Stockton,
Cal., 486 B.R. 194, 195-98 (Bankr. E.D. Cal. 2013)).

13



Bankruptcy for future distribution in that proceeding (the “main” bankruptcy proceeding), while
eliminating the risk of returning empty handed. The Foreign Representative submits that under
either the Bankruptcy Code Section 363 standard or the Bankruptcy Rule 9019 standard, the
Settlement Agreement and the transfers thereunder should be approved.

. Repatriation of the Released Fundsis
Appropriate under Bankruptcy Code Section 1521(b).

32.  The repatriation of the Released Funds to Japan for distribution in the Japan
Bankruptcy is permitted by the Bankruptcy Code and the Court should authorize and entrust the
Released Funds to the Foreign Representative for their repatriation pursuant to Bankruptcy Code
Section 1521(b). Section 1521(b) of the Bankruptcy Code authorizes the Court, in its discretion,
to “entrust the distribution of all or part of the debtor’s assets located in the United States to the
foreign representative . . . , provided that the court is satisfied that the interests of creditorsin the
United States are sufficiently protected.” 11 U.S.C. § 1521(b); see adso 11 U.S.C. § 1522(a)
(“The court may grant relief under section . . . 1521, . .. only if the interests of the creditors and
other interested entities, including the debtor, are sufficiently protected.”).

33. Bankruptcy Code Sections 1521(b) and 1522 work in conjunction to “achieve an
appropriate balance between the interests of creditors and other interested entities, including the

debtor.” InreVitro SA.B.deC.V., 473 B.R. 117, 121 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. 2012); see In re Int’|

Banking Corp. B.S.C., 439 B.R. 614, 626 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2010) (“The idea underlying

[Bankruptcy Code Section 1522] is that there should be a balance between relief that may be
granted to the foreign representative and the interests of the persons that may be affected by such
relief.”). Concerns over whether interested entities are sufficiently protected center around
whether the relief sought “unduly favor[s] one group of creditors over another” or whether the

relief falls afoul of the public policy exception embodied in Bankruptcy Code Section 1506. In

14



re Tri-Cont’| Exch. Ltd., 349 B.R. 627, 637-38 (Bankr. E.D. Cal. 2006); seeInre Vitro SA.B. de

C.V., 473 B.R. at 123 (describing the Bankruptcy Code Section 1506 public policy exception as
asafety valve for creditorsin Chapter 15 proceedings).

34.  Courts have entrusted the distribution of assets to foreign representatives pursuant
to Bankruptcy Code Section 1521(b) in situations where the turnover of assets “would be more
economical and efficient in that it would permit al of [the company’s] creditors worldwide to

pursue their rights and remedies in one court of competent jurisdiction.” In re Atlas Shipping

A/S, 404 B.R. 726, 742 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 2009). The Atlas court found that creditors’ ability to
assert their rights to the transferred funds in the foreign court, without prejudice, was sufficient
protection for creditors under Section 1521(b). Seeid. Here, the Japan Bankruptcy is aforeign
main proceeding, and is the singular forum in which al creditors (including all U.S. and foreign
creditors) are already seeking to satisfy their claims. See Kobayashi Decl. 11 14-18.12

35. By this Motion, the Foreign Representative is merely seeking to repatriate the
Released Funds to Japan to be used in the administration of the Japan Bankruptcy, including
providing distributions to al creditors. U.S. creditors and other interest holders will not be
prejudiced by asserting their claims in the Japan Bankruptcy because all creditors, regardless of
geographical or jurisdictional location, must utilize the same process in the same manner as all
other creditors. See id. Therefore, the Debtor’'s U.S. creditors, like the creditors in Atlas, are
sufficiently protected under 11 U.S.C. 88 1521(b) and 1522 because U.S. creditors may assert
their rights to the transferred funds, without prejudice, in the same forum as all other creditors.

Importantly, no U.S. or other creditors have a property interest in the Seized Funds. All MtGox

12 Fora summary of the status of the filing of bankruptcy claims as of September 28, 2016, see Trustee's Report,
MtGox Co., Ltd [Tokyo District Court] September 28, 2016, (fu) no. 3830, available at www.mtgox.com and
attached hereto as Exhibit G.
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customers, including those in the U.S., have the status of unsecured creditors and are being
treated as such in the Japan Bankruptcy. See Kobayashi Decl. § 14.

36. Moreover, there is no issue of public policy that justifies a contrary result.
Indeed, permitting the Foreign Representative to repatriate the Released Funds for use in the
Japan Bankruptcy would advance the express objectives of Chapter 15 set forth in Bankruptcy
Code Section 1501, including: (i) the “fair and efficient administration of cross-border
insolvencies that protects the interests of all creditors and other interested entities, including the
[D]ebtor,” 11 U.S.C. 81501(a)(3); and (ii) the “protection and maximization of the value of the
[D]ebtor’'s assets.” 11 U.S.C. § 1501(a)(4). Here, repatriation of the funds will, inter alia,
increase the value of the Debtor’s estate in the Japan Bankruptcy, and subsequently result in
increased distributions to al creditors in the Japan Bankruptcy. Thus, permitting the Foreign
Representative to repatriate the Released Funds will materially aid the Foreign Representative’' s
efforts to maximize recoveries for, and provide for an equitable distribution of value among, all

creditors.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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CONCLUSION

37. For all of the foregoing reasons, the Foreign Representative respectfully requests
that the Court enter an order, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit H, (i)
approving the Settlement Agreement pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Sections 363 and 1520(a)(2)
insofar as it provides for the transfer of an interest of the Debtor in property in the United States,
(ii) pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Sections 363 and 1520(a)(2), approving the transfer of
Released Funds to the Foreign Representative and the forfeiture of the Forfeited Funds to the
Government in accordance with the Settlement Agreement; and (iii) pursuant to Bankruptcy

Code Section 1521(b), approving the repatriation of the Released Funds to Japan for distribution

in the Japan Bankruptcy.
Dated: February 28, 2017 Respectfully submitted,
Dallas, Texas

GARDERE WYNNE SEWELL LLP

/s/_Thomas C. Scannell

Marcus A. Helt (TX 24052187)
Thomas Scannell (TX 24070559)
Gardere Wynne Sewell LLP

2021 McKinney Avenue, Suite 1600
Dallas, Texas 75201

Telephone: (214) 999-3000
Facsimile: (214) 999-4667

Email: mhelt@gardere.com

Email: tscannell @gardere.com

-and -

BROWN RUDNICK LLP

David J. Molton (admitted pro hac vice)
Danidl J. Saval (admitted pro hac vice)
Seven Times Square

New York, New York 10036
Telephone: (212) 209-4800

Facsimile: (212) 209-4801

Email: dmolton@brownrudnick.com
Email: dsava @brownrudnick.com
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Counsel for Nobuaki Kobayashi, in his capacity
asthe Trustee and Foreign Representative

of MtGox Co., Ltd., a’k/a MtGox KK
62713666 v1
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U.S. Department of Justice

United States Attorney

District of Maryland
Evan Thomas Shea Suite 400 DIRECT: 410-209-4982
Assistant United States Aitorney 36 8. Charles Street MAIN: 410-209-4800
Evan.Shea@usdaj.gov Baltimore, MD 21201-3119 FAXN: 410-962-9293
January 27, 2017

Daniel J. Saval, Esquire
Brown Rudnick LLP
Seven Times Square
New York, NY 10036

Re: United States v, $2,117,414.96 in U.S. Currency,
USSS case no. 101-777-40003-J, seizure number 101-2013-004.

United States v. $109,479.84 in U.S. Currency,
USSS case no. 101-777-40003-], seizure number 101-2013-006.

United States v. $2,915,507.40 in U.S. Currency,
CBP case no. 2013-1303-001294-01

Dear Mr. Saval;

In accordance with our recent communications concerning the above-referenced forfeiture
actions, the following agreement is proposed. Once the agreement is fully executed and returned
to me, 1 will forward it to the appropriate agencies for disposition.

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

This Settlement Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made between MiGox Co., Litd. (the
“Claimant”), by and through Nobuaki Kobayashi, solely in his capacity as the bankruptcy frustee
and foreign representalive of the Claimant (the “Foreign Representative™), and the United States
Attorney’s Office for the District of Maryland (the “Government” and, together with the Foreign
Representative, the “Parties™);

WHEREAS, on or about May 9, 2013, the U.S. Secret Service executed seizure warrant
number 13-1085-SAG and seized $2,117,414.96 in U.S. Currency under USSS case no. 101-777-
40003-J before the United States District Court for the District of Maryland (the “Maryland
Court™), seizure number 101-2013-004; and
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WHEREAS, on or about May 14, 2013, the U.S. Homeland Security Investigations
executed seizure warrant number 13-1162-SKG and seized $2,915,507.40 in U.S. Currency under
CBP case no. 2013-1303-001294-01 before the Maryland Court; and

WHEREAS, on or about July 3, 2013, the U.S. Secret Service executed seizure warrant
number 13-1387-SAG and seized $109,479.84 in U.S. Currency under USSS case no. 101-777-
40003-J before the Maryland Court, seizure number 101-2013-006; and

WHEREAS, the total amount of U.S, Currency seized pursuant to the three seizure
warrants described above is $5,142,402,20 (the “Seized Assets”); and

WHEREAS, the Seized Assets are held in the District of Maryland; and

WHEREAS, the Claimant is presently involved in bankruptey proceedings in Japan (the
“Japan Bankruptcy Proceeding”) before the Twentieth Civil Division of the Tokyo District Court,
Japan (the “Tokyo Court”) and a related Chapter 15 bankruptcy case in the United States before
the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Texas, Dallas Division (the “Chapter 15
Court”), and by order dated June 18, 2014, the Chapter 15 Court entered an order, inter alia,
recognizing the Japan Bankruptcy Proceeding as a “foreign main proceeding” under Chapter 15
of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code and recognizing the Foreign Representative as the foreign
representative of Claimant (the “Recognition Order”);

WHEREAS, subsequent to the seizures of the Seized Assets and entry of the Recognition
Order, counsel for the Foreign Representative, on behalf of the Claimant, contacted Government
counsel and expressed an interest in the Seized Assets, and also provisionally waived any and all
time limits for the filing of a civil forfeiture case affecting the Seized Assets; and

WHEREAS, during such a civil forfeiture case against the Seized Assets, the Claimant
would have a right to a civil trial at which the Claimant could examine witnesses, present evidence,
and give testimony; and

WHEREAS, the Claimant would prevail at such a trial if the Government could not
establish by a preponderance of the evidence that the property was subject to forfeiture, or if the
Claimant could establish that the Claimant was an innocent owner; and

WHEREAS, the Foreign Representative, on behalf of the Claimant, nevertheless wishes
to settle this case and waive the right to a trial, and the Parties both wish to reach a fair and
expedited resolution to this matter; and

WHEREAS, it appears to the Parties that no person other than the Claimant has any legal
right, title, or interest in any part of the Seized Assets; and

WHEREAS, the Foreign Representative, on behalf of the Claimant, acknowledges that the
Government has no obligation to any of the Claimant’s customers, past or present, with respect to
the Seized Assets, and the Foreign Representative, on behalf of the Claimant, agrees that all claims



by such customers pertaining to any funds that were held by the Claimant, at any time, on behalf
of customers, or pertaining specifically to the Seized Assets are the sole responsibility of the

Claimant;

NOW, THEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons and for good and substantial
consideration, the adequacy and receipt of which is hereby acknowledged, the Foreign
Representative, on behalf of the Claimant, and the Government agree as follows:

1. The Government agrees to release a total of $2,571,201.10 of the Seized Assets
(the “Released Funds”) as follows to the Foreign Representative, on behalf of the Claimant:

(a) release $2,117,414.96 in U.S. Currency held under USSS case no. 101-777-
40003-J, and seizure number 101-2013-004;

(b)  release $109,479.84 in U.S. Currency held under USSS case no. 101-777-
40003-J, and seizure number 101-2013-006; and

(c)  release $344,306.30 in U.S. Currency held under CBP case no. 2013-1303-
001294-01.

Within five (5) business days of the Effective Date (defined below), the Government shall initiate
the transfer of the Released Funds, by electronic funds transfer, to a bank account to be designated
by the Foreign Representative, The Foreign Representative agrees to provide Government counsel
with completed ACH payment forms so that the transfer of the Released Funds can be made.

2. This Agreement is subject to (the “Effectiveness Conditions™): (i) the entry of an
order by the Chapter 15 Court or any other court of competent jurisdiction (a) approving this
Agreement; (b) approving the transfer of the Released Funds to the Foreign Representative
pursuant to Sections 363 and 1520(a)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code; (c) approving the repatriation of
the Released Funds to Japan for use in the Japan Bankruptcy Proceeding pursuant to Section
1521(b) of the Bankruptcy Code; and/or (d) any other and further relief necessary to effectuate this
Agreement; and (ii) the entry of an order by the Tokyo Court approving this Agreement and
granting any other and further relief necessary to effectuate this Agreement (the “Approval
Orders™). The Parties agree that the Foreign Representative may file a motion seeking the
Approval Orders in each of the Chapter 15 Court and the Tokyo Court. On the first date when
both Effectiveness Conditions are satisfied (the “Effective Date”), this Agreement shall become
effective and the payment of the Released Funds to the Foreign Representative shall be due and
payable in accordance with paragraph 1 above. This Agreement shall terminate on the date (the
“Termination Date”) on which an order is entered denying approval of this Agreement by the
Chapter 15 Court, the Tokyo Court, the Maryland Court or any other court of competent
jurisdiction over the subject matter herein and, upon such termination, the Parties shall be restored
to the same position they were in immediately before entry into this Agreement without waiver of
any rights, remedies, claims, defenses, positions or arguments, including, without limitation,
Claimant’s right to a trial on the matter. Without limiting the foregoing, prior to the occurrence of



any Termination Date, the Foreign Representative, on behalf of the Claimant, shall not assert that
there was a lack of reasonable cause for the Government’s seizure of the Seized Assets.

3. The Foreign Representative, on behalf of the Claimant, agrees as of the Effective
Date to withdraw its claims as to the remaining Seized Assets, and agrees to forfeit all rights, title,
and interest in that portion of the Seized Assets to the Government. These forfeited funds are as
follows: $2,571,201.10 in U.S. Currency held under CBP case no. 2013-1303-001294-01 (the
“Forfeited Funds”).

4. The Parties agree that, if necessary, the Government may submit a copy of this
Agreement to the Maryland Court in support of a motion seeking an order conforming to the terms
of this Agreement and seeking judicial forfeiture of the Forfeited Funds specified in paragraph 3
above. The Government acknowledges that it does not require the approval of the Maryland Court
to fransfer the Released Funds to the Claimant.

5. The Claimant agrees to indemnify and hold the Government harmless from and
against all claims, damages, losses, and actions resulting from or arising out of the relcase of the
Released Funds to the Claimant, provided, however, that Claimant’s obligations to the
Government under this paragraph, if any, shall not exceed the amount of the Released Funds. Each
of the Parties agrees to bear its own costs and attorney’s fees in connection with the negotiation,
documentation and seeking of any approval of this Agreement.

6. Notwithstanding the Government’s agreement to release the Released Funds to the
Foreign Representative, on behalf of the Claimant, the Foreign Representative understands that
the United States Department of the Treasury’s Bureau of the Fiscal Service administers a
centralized offset program (the “Treasury Offset Program™), under which the federal agencies of
the United States of America (the “Federal Agencies”) may withhold parts or all of any funds in
the possession of the United States of America until the Federal Agencies (including the Internal
Revenue Service) have determined that the Claimant does not owe any unrelated, legally
enforceable debts to the United States of America, See 31 U.S.C. § 3716. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the Foreign Representative and the Claimant do not waive any rights or protections
available under 31 C.F.R. § 285.5 and all related statutes and regulations, including, without
limitation, all statutes and regulations prohibiting the Government or the Federal Agencies from
collecting or offsetting debts subject to the automatic stay in bankruptey proceedings or debts
covered by a statute that prohibits collection of such debt by offset. Furthermore, the Foreign
Representative and the Claimant do not waive any rights or protections available based upon (i)
the application of 11 U.S.C. § 362 to the Claimant and the property of the Claimant that is within
the territorial jurisdiction of the United States of America pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 1520(a)(1) and
the Recognition Order, and/or (ii) the provisions of 11 U.S.C. § 1507 and 11 U.S.C. § 1521,
including, without limitation, 11 U.S.C. § 1521(a)(5) and 11 U.S.C. § 1521(a)(7).

7 Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Foreign Representative is
acting solely in a representative capacity and not individually as the bankruptcy trustee and foreign
representative on behalf of the Claimant, and the Government agrees that the Foreign
Representative shall bear no personal liability whatsoever in connection with (i) this Agreement,



(ii) any of the matters addressed herein, or (iii) any of Claimant’s obligations hereunder, including,
without limitation, any obligations that may arise under paragraph 5 hereof.

8. This Agreement states the entire agreement reached between the Parties hereto.

Rod J. Rosenstein

United States Attorney
\/30/96 (7 GRS
Date Evan T. Shea

Assistant United States Attorney

3/9\8/;0}7 oy

Date Daniel J “Saval, Esquire
Brown Rudnick LLP
Attorney for Bankruptey Trusteee of MtGox, Co., Ltd

2/5 [>T i ’/‘?m,,_/{’
Date Nobuaki Kobayastl
' Solely in his Representative Capacity as Bankruptcy

Trustee of MtGox, Co., Ltd. and not individually




IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

DALLAS DIVISION
Inre: Chapter 15
MtGox Co., Ltd. (a/k/a MtGox KK), Case No. 14-31229-sgj-15

Debtor in a Foreign Proceeding.

DECLARATION
OF NOBUAKI KOBAYASHI,
AS FOREIGN REPRESENTATIVE,
IN SUPPORT OF THE MOTION FOR
AN ORDER APPROVING: (I) SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENT WITH U.S. GOVERNMENT; (II) TRANSFER
OF SEIZED FUNDS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENT, PURSUANT TO 11 U.S.C. §§ 363 AND 1520(a)(2); AND (IIT)
REPATRIATION OF THE RELEASED FUNDS TO JAPAN FOR DISTRIBUTION
IN THE JAPAN BANKRUPTCY PROCEEDING PURSUANT TO 11 U.S.C § 1521(b)

I, Nobuaki Kobayashi, in my capacity as the bankruptcy trustee and foreign

representative of MtGox Co., Ltd., a/k/a MtGox KK (the “Debtor” or “MtGox™), pursuant to 28

U.S.C. § 1746, hereby declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of
America that the following is true and correct to the best of my knowledge and belief, including
based upon my review of the books, records and documents of the Debtor and discussions with
my counsel:

1. T am a resident of Japan, and after receiving an L.L.B from Chuo University in
1979, have been registered to practice law in Japan since 1983. I am currently a partner at
Nagashima Ohno & Tsunematsu, a Japan-based law firm engaged in the provision of corporate
reorganization, insolvency and related services in Japan. Since becoming an attorney at law, I
have been a member of the Insolvency Law Study Group of the Tokyo Bar Association, and |

was appointed Chairperson in 2002, Since 2013, T have been Chairperson of the Study
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Committee on the Bankruptcy Law System of the Japan Federation of Bar Associations. 1 have
lectured in a variety of programs and institutions and have delivered lectures on insolvency
practice hosted by the Training and Research Institute for Court Officials of the Supreme Court
of Japan and attended by Japanese judges. From 2007 to March 2014, T was a visiting Professor
in insolvency law at Chuo University Law School in Tokyo, Japan. In 2012, I was ranked the
fourth most valuable business law attorney in Japan based on a survey conducted by Nikkei.

2. In addition, T have extensive experience in each of Japan’s three types of
insolvency proceedings. Specifically, I have served as: (i) the bankruptcy trustee in
approximately 30 Japan bankruptcy proceedings involving companies; (ii) the supervisor in
approximately 30 Japan civil rehabilitation proceedings; and (iii) the reorganization trustee in
approximately 10 Japan reorganization proceedings. As such, I am fully familiar with Japanese
insolvency law and with MtGox’s Japan Bankruptcy (as described below).

3. On April 24, 2014, 1 was appointed as the bankruptcy trustee of MtGox, which is
the subject of a bankruptcy procedure under the Bankruptcy Act of Japan (the “Japan
Bankruptcy™), currently pending before the Twentieth Civil Division of the Tokyo District Court
in Japan (the “Tokyo Court™).

4. On May 23, 2014, 1, as bankruptcy trustee and Foreign Representative of MtGox,
filed the Amended Verified Petition for Recognition and Chapter 15 Relief [Docket No, 126] in
the United States Bankruptcy Coutt for the Northern District of Texas (the “Court”) requesting,
inter alia, that the Japan Bankruptcy be recognized as a foreign main proceeding,.

5. On June I8, 2014, this Court entered the Order Recognizing Foreign Main

Proceeding and Granting Related Relief [Docket No. 151} (the “Recognition Order™),

recognizing the Japan Bankruptcy as a foreign main proceeding under title 11 of the United



States Code (the “Bankruptcy Code”) Sections 1517(a) and 1517(b)(1), and stating that all of the

effects of recognition as set forth in Bankruptcy Code Section 1520 apply. The Recognition
Order also established that T am the recognized foreign representative of the Debtor.

6. I submit this declaration in support of the Motion for an Order Approving:
() Settlement Agreement With U.S. Government,; (1) Transfer of Seized Funds in Accordance
With the Settlement Agreement, Pursuant to 11 US.C. §§ 363 and 1520(a)(2); and (Ili}
Repatriation of Released Funds .to Japan for Distribution in the Japan Bankrupicy Proceeding

Pursuant to 11 US.C. § 1521¢b) (the “Motion”), which I, in my capacity as bankrupicy trustee

and foreign representative of MtGox, have contemporaneously filed with the this Court seeking,
inter alia, permission to have the Released Funds transferred to MtGox for repatriation and
distribution in the Japan Bankruptcy.! Specifically, by the Motion, I respectfully seek an Order
granting: (i) approval of the Settlement Agreement pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Sections 363
and 1520(a)(2), as the Settlement Agreement provides for the transfer of an interest of MtGox in
property located in the United States; (ii) authorization to transfer the Released Funds to me, in
my capacity as the bankruptey trustee and foreign representative of MtGox, pursuant to
Bankruptcy Code Sections 363 and 1520(a)(2); and (iii) authorization to repatriate the Released
Funds to Japan pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Section 1521(b) for distribution in the Japan
Bankruptey.

7. Based on my review of the relevant documents and discussions with my U.S.
counsel, T understand that from May through July 2013, tﬁe U.S. Government, acting through the
U.S. Secret Service and U.S. Homeland Security Investigations, seized a total amount of

$5,142,402.20 (the “Seized Funds”) from Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and Dwolla bank accounts of

L All capitalized terms used but not defined herein, shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the Motion.




a MtGox affiliate, Mutum Sigillum LLC, a Delaware entity (“Mutum™).? 1 have been advised
the seizures were based on a finding, by a U.S. Magistrate JTudge, that there was probable cause
to believe that the MtGox affiliate was operating as an unlicensed money transmitting business in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1960. The U.S. Government currently holds the Seized Funds in the
District of Maryland,

8. I have been advised and it is my understanding that Mutum was used for the
processing of funds relating to MtGox’s U.S. customers to and from the bitcoin exchange
through an online payment processor, Dwolla, which was located in Iowa. More specifically, it
is my understanding that, in order to facilitate trades on the MtGox exchange, Mutum funded its
Dwolla account from its Wells Fargo account and, after a trade had been made, funds would be
transferred from Mutum’s Dwolla account to its Wells Fargo account. Additionally, T have been
advised and it is my understanding that MtGox would transfer, by international wire transfer,
funds from Sumitomo Mitsui Bank in Japan in the name of Mt. Gox Company Ltd. for the
benefit of the Mutum Wells Fargo account. After the funds were credited to the Mutum Wells
Fargo account, they were frequently disbursed to the Dwolla account to purchase bitcoins which
would then be registered on MtGox’s bitcoin registry.3

9. Subsequent to the seizures of the Seized Funds and following my appointment as
bankruptcy trustee and Foreign Representative of MtGox, I instructed my United States counsel,

Brown Rudnick LLP, to contact counsel for the United States Attorney’s Office for the District

2 1 have been advised that, pursuant to the seizure warrants, $2,915,507.40 was seized from Mutum’s Dwolla
account and $2,117,414.96 was seized from Mutum’s Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. account. Additionally, I have
been advised that a check in the amount of $109, 479.84 drawn from a Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. account in the
name of MtGox North America, Inc., a MtGox subsidiary, was seized by the 108, Secret Service during its
attempted transfer to a different bank. The Seized Funds comprise all of the aforementioned funds.

3 Although Mutum was used for the processing of funds in connection with the operation of the MtGox exchange,
1 understand, from MiGox’s books and records, that Mutum is a company wholly owned by Robert Marie Mark
Karpeles. As the Court is aware, Mr. Karpeles is the founder of MtGox and its former sole director, but no
lIonger has any control over MtGox.



of Maryland (the “Government™) in order to seek the return and repatriation of the Seized Funds
to Japan for use and distribution in the Japan Bankruptcy, including lto make distributions to
creditors.

10.  After lengthy, arm’s-length negotiations between the parties, I, on behalf of the
Debtor, entered into a settlement agreement with the Government to resolve the disputes over the

Seized Funds (the “Settlement Agreement”). The Settlement Agreement provides for the release

of 50% of the Seized Funds -- i.e., $2,571,201.10 -- to me, in my capacity as bankruptcy trustee
and foreign representative of MtGox and on behalf of MtGox.4

11.  After multiple conversations with my counsel, my understanding of the extensive
negotiations between my counsel and the U.S. government, and my business and professional
experience, 1 believe that the Settlement Agreement represents the best deal possible under the
circumstances.

12, In addition to returning a significant portion of the Seized Funds to MtGox, the
Settlement Agreement also constitutes a more favorable result than litigation. T am advised that
litigation to recover the Seized Funds would require substantial discovery, briefing, and a trial
that would significantly deplete assets of the Debtor’s estate. lmportantly, I have been advised
that there are significant and unique impediments to MtGox recovering the full amount of the
Seized Funds through litigation with the U.S. government. One of the principal hurdles is that
should the U.S. government commence a formal forfeiture proceeding against the funds, under

U.S. law, title to the funds would vest in the U.S. government and it would be MtGox’s burden

to overcome that transfer of property interest through litigation.>

4 A copy of the Settlement Agreement is attached to the Motion as Exhibit A.

51 have been advised that, to overcome this burden, MitGox must prevail at trial on the predicate crime of
operating as an unlicensed money transmitting business.




13, The Settlement Agreement averts the incumbent risks, costs and delays of a trial
against the U.S. government and eliminates the risk of zero recovery at trial. In this way, the
Settlement Agreement is beneficial to the Debtor’s estate in two key ways: (i) it provides for the
release of substantial funds that can be used for distribution in the Japan Bankruptcy; and (ii) it
avoids draining the limited resources of the Debtor’s estate in any trial against the Government.®

14.  Furthermore, in gr;mting the relief requested in the Motion, the interests of U.S.
creditors are sufficiently protected. In the Japan Bankruptcy, all global creditors of MtGox
(including U.S. creditors) with allowed claims will receive pro rata, pari passu distributions
from MtGox’s pool of assets located in Japan. Moreover, there are no U.S. customers or
creditors that have an interest in the Seized Funds; rather, all U.S. creditors (including U.S.
MtGox customers) are unsecured creditors and will be treated as such in the Japan Bankruptcy.

15.  Regarding the claim reconciliation process in Japan, as of February 2, 2017, there
were 24,750 persons who filed bankruptcy claims as asserted customers of the MtGox
exchange—=6,642 of whom were U.S, creditors, The total amount of claims that have been filed
is JPY 263,519,268,303,371, which is approximately $2,320,632,367,562 USD using a
conversion rate of one (1) JPY to 0.0088 USD. 1 have challenged creditor claims in the total
aggregate amount of JPY 263,473,508,143,986. Of the claims filed by U.S. creditors, 4,961
have been accepted by me in their entirety and 1,378 have been accepted by me in part, totaling
JPY 12,317,265,506, which is approximately $108,469,658 USD. [ have accepted JPY

45,760,159,385 in total, which is approximately $401,652,219 USD.

6 | note that MitGox is required to indemnify the Government against claims resulting from or arising out of the
release of the Released Funds to MtGox. 1 have been advised by my counsel that this was a condition that the
Government insisted upon throughout the negotiations of the Settlement Agreement. However, the Government
agreed to limit MiGox’s indemnification obligations, if any, to the amount of Released Funds, Moreover, T
consider that the risk of the indemmification obligation being triggered is very low, taking into account, among
other things, that no U.S. creditor has an interest in the Seized Funds. See infra ' 14.



16. T have challenged a total of 1,681 claims filed by U.S. creditors, 299 of which [
have challenged in full. The total amount of U.S. creditor claims challenged is JPY
250,134,384,214.7 Further, T note that in the Japan Bankruptcy, any creditor who disagrees with
my decision to challenge their claim may file a motion for appraisal of claims. As of February 2,
2017, one hundred and .forty—three (143) creditors, including twenty five (25) U.S. creditors, have
filed a motion for appraisal of claims.

17.  Now that all bankruptcy claims have been accepted or challenged, subject to the
ongoing appraisal of claims, I intend to move forward with the distribution process as soon as
possible. However, the exact timing of distribution is not yet determinable because we must
still: (i) collect all receivables of MtGox in the amount of approximately JPY 1,956,856,9118
($17,220,340 USD); (ii) liquidate the remainder MtGox’s assets; ? and (iif) resolve all
outstanding disputes against MtGox that have given rise to additional claims, including the

claims asserted by CoinLab, Inc.1¢

7 1 note that the largest challenged U.S, creditor claim was in the amount of JPY 233,637,622,403; this claim by
itself’ represents 89.02% of the total amount claimed by U.S, creditors. The challenged claim amount with
respect to 1.8, creditors appears significant only because of a small number of very large filings. Taking into
account the ten largest U.S. creditors’ claims, the challenged amount is JPY 249,677,726,390, which constitutes
99.82% of the aggregate amount of challenge U.S. creditor claims.

8 This number represents the book value of MtGox assets that remain collectable as of September 27, 2016, 1
note that for certain of these assets it may be difficult to collect any or all of their full book value.

9 However, as I understand this Court has previously been advised, MtGox customers with allowed claims may
have the option of electing to receive a distribution in either cash or bitcoin, Even in the case where I determine
it is feasible to distribute bitcoins directly to creditors, the number of bitcoins to be distributed depends on the
number of creditors who wish to receive in bitcoins in lieu of cash. As previously reported, I am in possession
and control of approximately 202,185.35 bitcoin on behalf of the MtGox estate.

0 Fora summary of the status of the filing of bankruptey claims as of September 28, 2016, see Trustee’s Report,
MtGox Co., Ltd [Tokyo District Court] September 28, 2016, (fu) no. 3830, available at www.mtsox.com and
attached to the Motion as Exhibit G.




18. Finally, repatriation of the Released Funds to Japan will make the distribution
process more cconomically efficient as the Released Funds can simply be added to the pool of
assets already located in Japan for administration of the Debtor’s estate.

19.  Based on the foregoing, I have determined that, in my business judgment, the
Settlement Agreement provides for a resolution of the claims to the Seized Funds in a manner
that 1s fair, equitable and in the best interests of MtGox and MtGox’s creditors.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States of America that the

foregoing is, to the best of my knowledge, information and belief, complete, true and correct.

Executed on this j;'Z_ of February, 2017
in Tokyo, Japan

/K:aé/aﬂ%

Nobuaki Kobayashi




UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

In the Matter of the Seizure of

(Address or bricl description of property to be se{zed)
SEIZURE WARRANT

The contents of one CASE NUMBER:
Wells Fargo Bank account, and 5
up to $50,000 in another Wells :!' 3 10 8 BSAG

Fargo Bank account.

TO: Shaun Bridges, Special Agent, United States Secret Service, and any Authorized Officer of the
United States:

An Affidavit having been made before me by Shaun Bridges, Special Agent, United States Secret
Service, who has reason to belicve that in Maryland, and elsewhere there is now certain property
which is subject to forfeiture to the United States, namely (deseribe the property 1o be seized)

the contents of Wells Fargo Bank account 7657841313 in the name of
Mutum Sigillum LLC and up to $50,000 contained in
Wells Fargo Bank account 6836757515 in the name of Mark Karpeles.

1 am satisfied that the affidavit establishes probable cause to believe that the property so described is subject to seizure and
forfeiture end that grounds exist for the issuance of this seizure warrant.

YOU ARE HEREBY AUTHORIZED toseize within fourteen (14) days, the property specified, serving this warrant

and making the seizure in the daytime - 6:00 AM to 10:00 PM - leaving a copy of this warrent and receipt for the property
seized, and prepare a written inventory of the property seized and promptly return this warrant to any U.S. Magistrate Judge,
Bs required by law. Service of this seizure warrant may be made by facsimile, provided that a hard copy is thereafter served
by regular mail, overnight mail, or personal delivery.

Issued May 9, 2013, at Baltimore, Maryland, by

Date lssued
Gk ey
[ Q/‘\, L"{//‘*—"’_“
Honoratle Stephanie A. Gallagher
United States Magistrate Judge
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RETURN ‘
TIME WARRANT EXECUTED CO?YOF FOR LEFT WITH
7 /00G A A o e ﬂ

INVENTORY OF PROPERTY TAKEN PURSUANT TO THE WARRANT

Aoconk FesTeHIBD - wSd 82, /07,214.09
Nocourt EBBETSFSIS - ASD X 8,200.F

CERTIFICATION
1 declare under penalty of perjury that this inventory is co; ed along with the original warrant to the designated
mogistrate judge.
5 / 3 / i /Vl /
Dfe / “ExeCuting 5fﬁcer s sngnatm-e

jkm A(i.(;
Printed name and title



UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

In the Matter of the Seizure of
(addresy or brief description of propery (o be scized)

The contents of one APPLICATION AND
Wells Fargo Bank account,and AFFIDAVIT FOR SEIZURE WARRANT
up to $50,000 in another Wells  CASE NUMBER:

Fargo Bank account. !. 3 - 1 0 8 ESAG

Shaun Bridges, Special Agent, United States Secret Service, being duly sworn deposes and says;

1 have reason to believe that there is now cenain property in Maryland, and elsewhere, which is the subject of forfeiture to
the United States, namely (describe propery to be seizd):

the contents of Wells Fargo Bank account 7657841313 in the name of
Mutum Sigillum LLC and up to $50,000 contained in
Wells Fargo Bank account 6836757515 in the name of Mark Karpeles,

which are (stste ore or moce bases for seizure under the U.S. Code)

subject to forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 981(a)(1)(A) because the contents of the
Mutum Sigillum LLC account were involved in transactions and attempted transactions in
violation of 18 U.S.C. section 1960, and up to $50,000 in the Mark Karpeles account was
traceable to the property subject to forfeiture in the Mutum Sigillum LLC account.

finding of Probable Cause for issuance of a Seizure Warrant are set forth in the attached Affidavit.

Special Agent

U.S. Secret Service

Sworm to before me, and subscribed in my presence on (Dae} Mg_y 9, 2013 at Baltimore, Maryland.

Honorable Stephanie A. Gallagher
United States Magistrate Judge
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Affidavit in Support of Seizure Warrant ) SSAG
I. Purpose of the Affidavit
This Affidavit is submitted in support of an application for a scizure warrant for the
contents of Wells Fargo Bank account 7657841313 in the name of Mutum Sigillum LLC and
for $50,000 contained in Wells Fargo Bank account 6836757515 in the name of Mark
Karpeles.

1 submit that there is probable cause to believe that the contents of Wells Fargo Bank
account 7657841313 in the name of Mutum Sigillum LLC were involved in transactions and
attempted transactions in violation of 18 U.S.C. section 1960, and that the contents of that
account are subjcct to seizure and forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 981(a)(1)(A). I submit
that there is also probable cause to believe that $50,000 that was transferred from the
7657841313 account to the 6836757515 account constitutes property traceable to the property
that is subject to seizure and forfeiture, and that $50,000 in the 6836757515 account is also
subject to seizure and forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 981 (a)(1 }(A).

M. Affiant

"Your affiant, Shaun Bridges, is a Special Agent with the .United States Secret Scrvice
(USSS). While working for the USSS your affiant has prepared and executed state and federal
search and scizure warrants, seized evidence of both state and federal violations, interviewed
suspects, witnesses, and informants, and evaluated cvidence obtained during the course of these
investigations.

11I. Applicable Statutes

18 U.S.C. section 1960
(a) Whoever knowingly conducts, controls, manages, supervises, directs, or owns all or part of an
unlicensed money transmitting business, shall be fined in accordance with this title or imprisoned not
more than § years, or both.
(b) As used in this section—

(1) the term “unlicensed money transmitting business” means a money transmitting business
which affects interstate or foreign commerce in any manner or degree and—

(A) is operated without an appropriate money transmitting license in a State where such
operation is punishable as a misdemeanor or a felony under State law, whether or not the
defendant knew that the operation was required to be licensed or that the operation was so
punishable;

(B) fails to comply with the money transmitting business registration requirements under
section 3330 of title 31, United States Code, or regulations prescribed under such section; or

(C) otherwise involves the transportation or transmission of funds that are known to the

1
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defendant to have becn derived from a criminal offense or are intended to be used to promote or

support unlawful activity;

(2) the term “money transmitting” includes transferring funds on behalf of the public by any and
all mcans including but not limited to transfers within this country or to locations abroad by wire, check,
draft, facsimile, or courier; and

(3) the term “State™ means any State of the United States, the District of Columbia, the Northern
Mariana Islands, and any commonwealth, territory, or possession of the United States.

18 1).8.C. section 981
(a)(1) The following property is subject to forfeiture to the United States:

(A)  Any property, real or personal, involved in a transaction or attempted transaction in
violation of section 1956, 1957, or 1960 of this titlc, or any property traceable to such property.

* # %
IV. Probable Cause

The information set forth below is based upon your affiant’s review of records and upon
information provided by other sworn law enforcement officers participating in this investigation.
I have not included each and cvery fact obtained pursuant to this investigation, but have set forth
those facts that I believe are essential to establish the necessary foundation for the issuance of the
seizure warrant for the specified account.

A company called “Mt. Gox,” is the world’s largest bitcoin exchange, and it operates out
of Tokyo, Japan. Mt Gox has a subsidiary company known as “Mutum Sigillum LLC.”
According to bank records, Mutum Sigillum LLC holds an account at Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.
The account is held in the business name Mutum Sigillum LLC, which is incorporated in the
state of Delaware. According to Wells Fargo Bank records, the account was established on May
20, 2011 with the account number 7657841313 and with a single authorized signer, Mark
Karpeles. According to open source information, Karpeles is the owner of Mt. Gox. According
to the bank records, Karpeles is also the owner of Mutum Sigillum LLC.

As part of the account opening process, Wells Fargo required Karpeles and Mutum
Sigillum LLC to complete a “Money Scrvices Business (MSB) Accounts, Identification of an
MSB Customer” form. That document was completed on May 20, 2011, and identified Mutum
Sigillum LLC as a business not engaged in money services. The application asks several
questions; to include, “Do you deal in or exchange currency for your customer?” and “Does your
business accept funds from customers and send the funds based on customers’ instructions

(Money Transmitter)?” Karpeles answered these questions “no,” indicating that Mutum Sigillum
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I.LC does not deal in or exchange money, and that it does not send funds based on customer
instructions. '

Money transmitting businesses are required by 31 U.S.C. section 5330 to register as such
with FinCEN. According to FinCEN records on May 6, 2013, neither Mt. Gox nor the
suhsidiary, Mutum Sigillum LLC is rcgistered as a Money Service Business.

Mt Gox acts as a digital currency exchange where customers open accounts and fund
their respective accounts with fiat currency, which is then exchanged into crypto-currency by Mt.
Gox; the crypto-currency is known as bitcoin. Fiat currency simply refers to any money that a
government has declared to be legal tender. The exchange is bidirectional and allows customers
to also exchange hitcoins back into fiat currency, and then withdraw those funds. The exchange
of fiat currency and bitcoins incurs a floating rate fee charged by Mt. Gox and is determined by
the customer’s aggregate amount of funds exchanged on a monthly basis. So, the exchange of a
small amount of bitcoin would include a larger fee than a larger exchange.

An online payment processor, known as Dwolla, is located in Iowa. People can purchase
bitcoin by depositing funds with Dwolla and then directing that the funds be used to make the
purchase from Mt. Gox, which then maintains the registry of the ownership of the bitcoin. Bank
records show a number of deposits to the Mutum Sigillum account at Wells Fargo originating
from international wires sent from Sumitomo Mitsui Bank in Japan. The wires indicate that the
transfer is in the name of Mt. Gox Company Ltd. fof the hencfit of the Mutum Sigillum LLC
account 7657841313.

After the funds are credited to that account, they are frequently disbursed to Dwolla, an
online payment service for e-commerce; bank records show such transfers to Dwolla since at
least in December 2011. The funds being sent to Dwolla are those of Mt. Gox customers that
withdraw said funds from Mt. Gox and direct their transfer to Dwolla. A Confidential Informant
(Cl-1), who resides and banks in Maryland, provided information to government agents that has
been corroborated. CI-1 stated that he initiated this process by establishing a new account, while
in Maryland, with both Mt. Gox and Dwolla. After funding his Mt. Gox account with U.S.
funds, he exchanged the currency for hitcoins. During the past six months, CI-1 exchanged the
bitcoins back into U.S. dollars, which he directed Mt. Gox to transfer to Dwolla on his behalf,

According to bank records, this transfer was completed through the subsidiary, Mutum
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Sigillum LLLC. This demonstrates that Mutum Sigillum LLC is engaged in a money transmitting
business but is not registered as required with FInCEN. Because the 7657841313 account was
involved in this money transmitting activity, the contents of the account are subject to scizure
and forfeiture in accordance with 18 U.S.C. section 981(a)(1)}(A).

Bank records also show that nearly all of the activity in the account consists of wires
betwecn this account and Dwolla, which represent bitcoin transactions for customers. The other
transactions in this account are not significant in number or amounts. Bank records indicate that
the current balance in the account is in approximately $2.1 million.

Bank records also show a transfer of $50,000 in January 2012 from the 7657841313
account to a personal account at Wells Fargo in the name of Mark Karpeles with account number
6836757515. Based on training and expericnce, I know that courls have held that the
government can forfeit the full value of unlawful funds traced into an account, regardless of how
many subsequent transactions take place, so long as the value of the account retains a balance
equal to or greater than the value of the unlawful funds traced into the account; otherwise, the
government may only forfeit only the lowest intermediate balance afier the traced funds entered

the account. United States v, Banco Cafetero Panama, 797 F.2d 1154, 1158-62 (2'ld Cir. 1986).

Consequently, if the balance in this account dropped below $50,000 after January 2012, then the
lowest balancc after that date would limit the amount that eventually can be forfeited.
V. Conclusion

Based on the foregoing, 1 submit that there is probable cause to believe that the contents
of Wells Fargo Bank account 7657841313 in the name of Mutum Sigillum LLC were involved in
transactions and attempted transactions in violation of 18 U.S.C. section 1960, and. that the
contents of that account are subject to seizure and forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section
981(a)(1)(A). 1 submit that there is also probable cause to believe that $50,000 that was
transferred from the 7657841313 account to the 6836757515 account constitutes property’
traceable to the property that is subject to seizure and forfeiture, and that $50,000 is also subject
to seizure and forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C.lsegtion 981(a)}(1)(A). .

e

!

‘rjj/" V:f/{/_ ; \}VC -; _ .4"’
Shaun Bridges, Special Agent
United States Secret Service
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Subscribed and swom before me on May 9, 20 1/.’4.' -

-, / ¢ /'/7
TN
L

Lp-‘? i—»(‘—::!u
Stephanie A. Gallaghér
United Staies Magistrate Judge
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

In the Matter of the Seizure of ¥

(Address or brief description of property to be seized) :

SEIZURE WARRANT
The contents of one : CASENUMBER: , .. . . £
Dwolla account. LwmLlog

3% "

TO: Michael T. McFarland, Special Agent, United States Homel?,nd Security Investigations (HSI),
and any Authorized Officer of the United States:

An Affidavit having been made before me by Michael T. McF arland, Special Agent, United States
Homeland Security Investigations (HST), who has reason to believe that in Des Moines, fowa, and
elsewhere there is now certain property which is subject to seizure and forfeiture to the United
States, namely (describe the property to be seized)

the contents of Dwolla Account 812-649-1010 registered in the name of
Mutum Sigillum LLC, held in the custody of Veridian Credit Union.

1 am satisfied that the affidavit establishes probable cause to believe that the property so described is subject to seizure and
forfeiture and that grounds exist for the issuance of this seizure warrant.

YOUAREHEREBY AUTHORIZED toseize within fourteen (14) days, the property specified, serving this warrant -
and making the seizure in the daytime - 6:00 AM to 10:00 PM - leaving a copy of this warrant and receipt for the property
seized, and prepare a written inventory of the property seized and promptly return this warrant to any U.S. Magistrate Judge,
as required by law. Service of this seizure warrant may be made by facsimile, provided that a hard copy is thereafter served
by regular mail, overnight mail, or personal delivery,

Issued May 14, 2013, at Baltimore, Maryland, by

Date Issued

%wr‘“ﬁﬂa

Honorable Susan K. Gauvey
United States Magistrate Judge
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

DISTRICT OF MARYLAND
In the Matter of the Seizure of
(address or brief description of property to be seized) :
The contents of one ' APPLICATION AND %
Dwolla account, AFFIDAVIT FOR SEIZURE WARRANT
CASE NUMBER: 3 g:; ',2 H;‘u

Michael T. McFarland, Special Agent, United States Homeland Security Investigations (HSI), being
duly sworn deposes and says: _ E

“};

-

I have reason to believe that there is now certain property in Des Moines, Iowa, and elsewhere,
which is the subject of forfeiture to the United States, namely (describe propenty to be seized).

the contents of Dwolla Account 812-649-1010 registered in the name of
Mutum Sigillum LLC, held in the custody of Veridian Credit Union,

- which are (state one or more bases for seizure under the U.S. Cods)

subject to forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 981(a)(1)(A) because the contents of the
Mutum Sigillum LLC account were involved in transactions and attempted transactions in
violation of 18 U.S.C. section 1960.

The facts to support a finding of Probable Cause for issuance of a Seizure Warrant are set forth in the attached Affidavit.

_/(,LM Tk

Michael T, McFarland

Special Agent

Homeland Security Investigations

U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement

Sworn to before me, and subscribed in my presence on Dat:) May 14, 2013 at Baltimore, Maryland.

(e

Honorable _ﬁusan K. Gauvey
United States Magistrate Judge



Affidavit in Support of Seizure Warrant

I. Purpose of the Affidavit .
This Affidavit is submitted in support of an application Iir a seizure warrant for the

contents of Dwolla Account 812-649-1010 registered in the name of Mutum Sigillum LLC,

held in the custody of Veridian Credit Union. I submit that there is probable cause to believe
that the contents of Dwolla account 812-649-1010 in the name of Mutum Sigillum LLC were
involved in transactions and attempted transactions in violation of 18 U.S.C. section 1960, and
that the contents of that account are subject to seizure and forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
section 981(a)(1)(A).
. Affiant

Michael McFarland, is a Special Agent with Homeland Security invesﬁgaﬁons (HSD.
While working for the HSI your affiant has prepared and executed state and federal search and
seizure warrants, seized evidence of both state and federal violations, interviewed suspects,
witnesses, and iﬁformants, and evaluated evidence 6bﬁned during the course of these

investigations.

II1. Applicable Statutes

18 U.S.C. section 1960

(a) Whoever knowingly conducts, controls, manages, supervises, directs, or owns all or part of an
unlicensed money transmitting business, shall be fined in accordance with this title or imprisoned not
more than 5 years, or both,

(b) As used in this section—

(1) the term “unlicensed money transmitting business” means a money transmitting business
which affects interstate or foreign commerce in any manner or degree and—

(A) is operated without an appropriate money transmitting license in a State where such
operation is punishable as a misdemeanor or a felony under State law, whether or not the
defendant knew that the operation was required to be licensed or that the operation was so
punishable;

(B) fails to comply with the money transmitting business registration requirements under
section 5330 of title 31, United States Code, or regulations prescribed under such section; or

(C) otherwise involves the transportation or transmission of funds that are known to the
defendant to have been derived from a criminal offense or are intended to be used to promote or
support unlawful activity;

(2) the term “money transmitting” includes transferring funds on behalf of the public by any and
all means including but not limited to transfers within this country or to locations abroad by wire, check,
draft, facsimile, or courier; and

(3) the term “State” means any State of the United States, the District of Columbia, the Northern
Mariana Islands, and any commonwealth, tetritory, or possession of the United States.

Srcdoaie



18 U.S.C. section 981 .
(a)(1) The following property is subject to forfeiture to the United States:
(A)  Any property, real or personal, involved in a transaction or attempted transaction in
violation of section 1956, 1957, or 1960 of this title, or any property traceable to such property.
* Kk ok

| IV. Probable Cause

The information set forth below is based upon your affiant’s review of records and upon
information provided by other sworn law enforcement officers participating in this investigation.
I have not included each and every fact obtained pursuant to this mvestigation, but have set forth
those facts that I believe are essential to establish the necessary foundation for the issuance of the
seizure warrant for the specified account,

A company called “Mt. Gox,” is the world’s largest bitcoin exchange, and it dperates out
of Tokyo, Japan. Mt Gox has a subsidiary company known as “Mutum Sigillam LLC.”
According to bank records, Mutum Sigillum LLC holds an account at Wells Fargo Bank; N.A.
The acéount is held in the business name Mutum Sigillum LLC, whicin is incorporated in the
state of Delaware. According to Wells Fargo Bank records, the account was established on May
20, 2011, with the account number 7657841313 and with a single authorized signer; Mark
Karpeles. According to open source information, Karpeles is the owner of Mt. Gox. According
to the bank records, Karpeles is also the owner of Mutum Sigillum LLC.

As part of the account opening process, Wells Fargo required Karpeles and Mutum
Sigillum LLC to complete a “Money Services Business (MSB) Accounts, Identification of an
MSB Customer” form. That document was completed on May 20, 2011, and identified Mutum
Sigillum LLC as a business not engaged in money services. The application asks several
questions; to include, “Do you deal in or exchange currency for your customer?” and “Does your
business accept funds from customers and send the funds based on customers’ instructions
(Money Transmitter)?” Karpeles answered these questions “no,” indicating that Mutum Sigillum
LLC does not deal in or exchange money, and that it does not send funds based on customer
instructions.

Money transmitting businesses are required by 31 U.S.C. section 5330 to register as such
with FinCEN. According to FinCEN records on May 6, 2013, neither Mt. Gox nor the
subsidiary, Mutum Sigillum LLC, is registered as a Money Service Business.



Mt. Gox acts as a digital currency exchange where customers open accounts and fund
their respective accounts with fiat currency, which is then exchanged into crypto-currency by Mt.
Gox; the crypto-currency is known as bitcoin. Fiat currency simply refers to any money that a
government has declared to be legal tender. The exchange is bidirectional and allows customers
to also exchange bitcoins back into fiat currency, and then withdraw those funds. The exchange
of fiat currency and bitcoins incurs a floating rate fee charged By Mt. Gox and is determined by
the customer’s aggregate amount of funds exchanged on a monthly basis. So, the exchange of a
small amount of bitcoin would include a larger fee than a larger exchange.

An online payment processor, known as Dwolla, is located in Iowa. People can purchase
bitcoin by depositing funds with Dwolla and then directing that the funds be used to make the
purchase from Mt. Gox, which then maintains the registry of the ownership of the bitcoin. Bank
records show a number of deposits to the Mutum Sigillum account at Wells Fargo originating
from international wires sent from Sumitomo Mitsui Bank in Japan The wires indicate that the
transfer is in the name of Mt. Gox Company Ltd. for the benefit of the Mutum Sigillum LLC
account 7657841313.

After the funds are credited to that account, they are frequently disbursed to Dwolla, an
online payment service for e-commerce; bank records show such transfers to Dwolla since at
least in December 2011. Dwolla is located in Des Moines, Jowa. The funds being sent to Dwolla
are those of Mt. Gox customers that withdraw said funds from Mt. Gox and direct their transfer
to Dwolla. A Confidential Informant (CI-1), who resides and banks in Maryland, provided
information to government agents that has been corroborated. CI-1 stated that he initiated this
process by establishing a new account, while in Maryland, with both Mt. Gox and Dwolla. After
funding his Mt. Gox account with U.S. funds, he exchanged the currency in his Dwolla account
for bitcoins. During the past six months, CI-1 exchanged the bitcoins back into U.S. dollars,
which he directed Mt. Gox to transfer to Dwolla on his behalf, The funds were then credited to
his Dwolla account.

According to bank records, this transfer was completed through the subsidiary, Mutum
Sigillum LLC. This demonstrates that Mutum Sigillum LLC is engaged in a money transmitting
business but is not registered as required with FinCEN. Because the. 7657841313 account at

Wells Fargo was involved in this money transmitting activity, the contents of the account were



subject to seizure and forfeiture in accordance with 18 U.8.C. section 981(a)(1)(A).

On May 9, 2013, the Honorable Stephanie A. Gallagher issued a seizure warrant for the
contents of the Mutum Sigillum LLC account at Wells Fargo, based on the foregoing
information. Bank records also show that nearly all of the activity in that Wells Fargo account
consists of wires between that account and Dwolla, which represent bitcoin transactions for
customers. The other transactions in this account are not significant in number or amounts,

Dwolla records indicate fhat the destination for the funds wired from the Wells Fargo
account was Molla Account 812-649-1010 registered in the name of Mutum Sigillum LLC,
held in the custody of Veridian Credit Union. Dwolla records also indicate that the Wells
Fargo account was the sole financial institution account that was funding the Dwolla account
812-649-1010. Therefore, it is evident that the Dwolla account was used exclusively to move
funds between Mt. Gox and Mutum Sigillum and their customers. Consequently, there is
probable cause to believe that Mt. Gox and Mutum Sigillum are using Dwolla Account 812-649-
1010 registered in the name of Mutum Sigillum LLC, held in the custody of Veridian
Credit Union to conduct transactions as part of an unlicensed money service business in
violation of 18 U.S.C. section 1960, and that the contents of the account are involved in those
transactions and attempted transactions.

Based upon my training and experience, I know that 18 U.S.C. section 981(b)(3) provides
that “a seizure warrant may be issued ... by a judicial officer in any district in which a forfeiture
action against the property may be filed under Section 1355(b) of title 28, and may be executed
in any district in which the property is found....” According to 28 U.S.C. Section 1355(b)(1)(A),
a forfeiture action may be brought in “the district court for the district in which any of the acts or
omissions giving rise to the forfeiture occurred....” Because the affidavit demonstrates that
transactions through the Dwolla and Mutum Sigillum accounts were initiated and caused by a
customer in the District of Maryland, the forfeiture action can be brought in the District of
Maryland, and the seizure warrant may be issued in the District of Maryland.

V. Conclusion

Based on the foregoing, I submit that there is probable cause to believe that the contents

of Dwolla Account 812-649-1010 registered in the name of Mutum Sigillum LLC, held in

the custody of Veridian Credit Union, were involved in transactions and attempted

4



transactions in violation of 18 U.S.C. section 1960, and that the contents of that account are
subject to seizure and forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 981 a)(D(A).
1}
= : s - :
- Michael T. McFarland, Special Agent

Homeland Security Investigations
Immigration and Customs Enforcement

Subscribed and sworn before me on May 14, 2013. m
( 6

Susan K. Gauvey
United States Magistrate Judge
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U.S. Departmont of Justice

United States Attorney
District of Marylavd
T Saite 40 DIRECT: 410-208-4982
Assiviaine Unitéd Siates Attorney IR _ ) 34 8. Chevles Streer MAIN: 410-203-9500
By Shear@uisdol gov BRI Beltimare, MD 21201-3119 FilX: 410-962-9293
- Jamary 27, 2017

D_an_lel X Saval Esquire’
- Brown Rudnick LLP

- Seven Timeés Square

i New Yerk NY 10036

: Umted States v. $2, El? 414 96 in U S C!m'rem:yl :
- TJSSS cas case o, 101-777-40003-1 sélzure nu:mbel 101-2013 004

S -'Umted States v, $109.479.84 i U.S, Cunency, |
"~ USSS casé no. 101—777-40003-J seizure number 101- 2013 006.

7 United States 7 $2 915 507.40 in U.S. Currency,
CBP cage no, 2013 1303-00]294-01 -~

Deai Mr Saval

o _In accordanc_e with our recent communications coricersiing the above-referenced forfeiture
- actions, the following agreement is proposéd. Once the agreement is fully exeonted and returned
tome, ] will foxrward it to the appropriate agencies for disposition.

SETTLDMENT AGREEMENT

ff-Thls Settlement Agzeemen‘t (thie- “Agreement“) is made between MtGox Co., Ltd. (the
Claimant™), by and through Nebuaki Kobayashi, solely in his capacity as the bank.ruptey trugtee
nd forsign tepresentative of the Claimant (the “Forgign Representative™), and the United States
ttorney’s Office for the District of Maryland (the “Governmént” and, together with the Foreign
-eplesentatwe, the “Parties”):

L WHEREAS on or about May 9, 2013, the U.S. Setret Service executed seizure warrant
: __ﬁl'tmbel 13-1085-SAG and seized $2,117,414.96 in U.S. Currency under USSS case no. 101-777-
* 40003-J before the United States District Court for the District of Maryland (the “Maryland
}'.'Court”), selzupe nurmber 101—2013 004; ancI

D _-fNAhAbHIMA:_OHNO&TSUNEMATSU N (LT AR LVIU I

Iad
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exeéﬁted seizure warrant numbeér 13-1162-SKG and seized $2,915,507.40 in U.S, Currency under
v CBP case no, 2013- 1303-001294 01 before the Maryland Court; and

WHEREAS on o about July 3 2013, the U.S. Secret Semce executed seizure warrant

:00034 biefore the Maryland Court selzuxe number 101-2013-006; and

 WHEREAS, the total amount of U.S. Currency seized pursvant to the three sexzure
warrants described above is $5 142 402 20 (the “Seized Assets™); and

o WHEREAS the Selzed Assets are held in the District of Maryland; and -

S WHEREAS, the Claima.nt is p:csently mvolved in bankrup!cy proceedings in Japan (the
. “Jagan Bankruptey Proceeding™) before the Twentieth Civil Division of the Tokyo Distriet Court,
apan (the “Tokyo Court") and a related Chapter 15 bankruptcy case in the United States before
*'the U.S. Bankruptey Couirt for the Northern District of Texas, Dallas Division (the “Chapter 15
Qg_“) and by order dated June 18, 2014, the Chapter 15 Court entered an order, infer alia,
. recogrizing the Japan Bankruptcy Proccedmg as a “foreign main proceeding™ under Chapter 15
of the-U.S, Bankruptcy Code and recognizing the Foreign Representatw-e as the foreign
_'_esmtatwe of Clalmant (the “Recog_lt:on Order”);

_ __WH.EREAS, subsequent to the seiziires of the Se;zed Assets and entry of the Recogmtlon
Order, counsel for the Foreign chresentatwe on behalf of the Claimant, contacted Government
-counsel and expressed an interest in the Seized Assets, and also provisionally waived any and all
'_:tlme !muts for the ﬁlmg of a cwﬂ forfelture case nffectmg the Selzed Assets; and

: ':WHEREAS durmg such a c1v1l forfelture case against the Selzed Asscts, ‘the Claimant
\. ou!d have arighttoa OIVII trial at whmh the Claimant could examine witnesses, prcsent evidence,
and g test:mony, and

:.WHEREAS the Clalmant wonld prevall at such a trial if the Government could not
__stabhsh by a preponderance of the evidence that the property was subject to forfeiture, or if the
':Clmma:nt muld establish that the Clalmant was an innocent owner; and

WH.EREAS the Forelgn Representative, on  behalf of the Claimant, ‘nevertheless wishes
o sp‘ttle this case and waive the right to & trial, and the Parties both wish to reach a fair and
-.expedlted resolutmn to th:s matter and =~ ‘

: WI{EREAS, it appears 0 the Parties that nio person other than the Claimant has any legal
ght, __-_nﬂe, or mterest in any part of the Seized Assets' and

WHEREAS, the Forelgn Representntwe, on behalf of the Claimant, acknowledges that the
_Government has no obligation to any of the Claimant’s customers, past or present, with respect to
the Se:zed Assets and the Foreign Representative, on behalf of the Claimant agrees that all claims

' WHEREAS. on or about May 14 2013, the U.S. Homeland Secunty Investigations.

'umber 13-1387-SAG and seized $109,479, 84 in U.8. Currency under USSS case no, 101-777-
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by: such customers pertammg 1o any. 'funds that were held by the Claimant, at any time, on behalf
" customers, or pertami“g‘spec:ﬁcally to the Seized Assets are the sole responsibility of the

Claimant; ;
'-'::.NOW, THEREFORE fo the foregomg reasons and for good and substantial

nsrderatlon, the - adequacy and recexpt of which is hereby acknowledged, the Foreign
Representatwe, on behalf of‘ the Clmmant and the Government agree as follows;

1 The Govemment agrees {o release a total of $2,571,201.10 of the Seized Assets
“Released Funds”) as follows to the Forergn Representative, on behalf of the Claimant:

(8 - release $2 117 414 96 nUs, Curzency held under USSS case no. 101 -177-
: "'40003 'J ; and selzure number 101-2013-004;

(b) _ release $IO9 479 84 in U.S. Currency held under USSS case no. 101-777-
: 2 '40003~J and se:zure number 101-2013-006; and . _

()] | re[ease $344 306 30 m U S, Currency held Under CBP case no. 2013 1303-
Lo 001294-0 R .

thin ﬁve (5) busmess days of the Effectwe I)ate (def ned below), the Govemment shall initiate
the transfer of the Released Funds, by electronic funds transfer, to a bank account to be designated
by the Foreign Represeritative. The Foreign Representative agrees to provide Government counsel
with eompleted ACH payment fonns so that the transfer of the Released Funds can be made

."2;. - This Agreement 15 subject to (the “ ﬂ'ectweness Cogdgrgng”) (l) the entry of an
er by the Chapter 15: Court or any other court. of competent jurisdiction (a) approving this
Agreement (b) approving the transfer of the Released Funds to the Forelgn Representative
- pursuant to Sections 363 and 1520(&)(2) of the Bankmptcy Code; (¢) approving the repatriation of
the Released Funds to Japan for use in the Japan Bankruptcy Proceeding pursuant to Section -
|521(b) of the Bankruptey Code; and/or (d) any other and further relief necessary to effectuate this
(greement; and (ii) the entry of an order by the Tokyo Court approving this Agreement and
ranting any other and further relief necessary to effectuate. this Agreement (the “Approval
Qrders”). - The Parties agree that the Foreign Representative may file 2 motion seeking the
\pproval Orders in each of the Chapter 15 Court and the Tokyo Court. On the first date when
oth Effectiveness Conditions are satisfied (the “Effective Date™), this Agreement shall become
fFective and the payment of the Released Funds to the Foreign Representative shall be due and
ayable in accordance with paragraph I above. This Agresment shall terminate on the date (the
Termination Date”) on which an order is entered denying approval of this Agreement by the
“hapter .15 Court, the Tokyo Court; the Maryland Court or any other court of competent
sdiction over the subject matter herein and, upon such termination, the Parties shall be restored
he same position they were in immiediately before enry into this Agreement without waiver of
any rights, remedies; claims, defenses, positions or arguments, including, without limitation,
laimant's right to a trial on the matter. Without limiting the foregoing, prior to the occurrence of
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" any Termination Date the Fore1gn Rep:esentatlve on behalf of the Claimant, shall not assert that
there was 8 lack ofre na.bie: cause for the Government’s seizure of the Selzed Assets

: 3. The Foreign Representatwe, on behalf of the Claimant, agrees as of the Effective
~Date to withdraw its cia:ms as to the remaining Seized Assets, and agrees to forfeit all rights, title,
~“and interest in that pomon of the Seized Assets to the Government. These forfeited funds are as
 follows: $2,571,201,10 in U.S "Currency held under CBP case no. 2013-1303-001294-01 (the
o “Forfe:ted Funds") i

a4 The Parhes agree that 1f necessary, the Government may submit a copy of this
'Agreement to the Mary!and Court in support of a motion seeking an order conforming to the terms
- of this Agreement and seeking judicial forfeiture of the Forfeited Funds specified in paragraph 3
 above. The Government acknowledges that it does not require the approval of the Maryland Court
to transfer the Reieased Funds to the Clalma.nt

PRI B The Clalmant agre'es to mdemmfy and hold the Government harmless from and
'_-f_"agamst all claims, damages, losses, and actions resulting from or arising out of the release of the
“Released Funds to the Claimant, provided, however, that Claimant’s obligations to the
- ‘Government under this paragraph, if any, shall not exceed the smount of the Released Funds. Each
* of the Parties agrees to bear its own costs and attorney’s fees in connectmn with the negotiation,
; '-"documentatlon and Seekmg of any approvai of this Agreement,

Forelgn Representative, on behalf of the Claimant, the Foreign Representative understands that
~the United States Department. of the Treasury's Bureau of the Fiscal Service administers a
céntralized offset program (the. “Tream Offset Program™), under which the federal agencies of
 the United States of America (the “Federal Agencies”) may withhold parts or all of any funds in
- the possession of the United States of America until the Federal Agencies (including the Internal
" Revenue Service) have determined that the Claimant does not owe any unrelated, legally
" enforceable debts to the United States of America, See 31 U.S.C. § 3716, Notwithstanding the

“available under 31 C.F.R. § 285.5 and all related statutes and regulations, including, without
. limitation, all statutes and regulations prohibiting the Government or the Federal Agencies from
- collecting or offsetting debts subject to the automatic stay in bankruptey proceedings or debts
covered by a statute that prohibits collection of such debt by offset. Furthermore, the Foreign
- Representative and the Claimant do not waive any rights or protections available based upon (i)
the application of 11 U.S.C. § 362 to the Claimant and the property of the Claimant that is within
he territorial jurisdiction of the United States of America pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 1520(a)(1) and
he Recognition Order, and/or (ii) the provisions of 11 U.S.C. § 1507 end 11 US.C. § 1521,
ncludmg, without hm!tatmn, 11 U 8.C. § 1521(g)(5) and 11 U.S.C. § 1521(a)(7).

Tepresentative on behalf of the Claimant, and the Government agrees that the Foreign
Rapr_gsentatwe shall bear no personal liability whatsoever in connection with (i) this Agreement,

6 Notw:thstandmg the Govemmcnt‘s agreement to release the Released Funds to the -

. foregoing, the Foreign Representative and the Claimant do not waive any rights or protections -

T Notwnthstandmg anythmg herein to the contrary, the Foreign Representative is
_c_tm g solely in a representative capacity and not individually as the bankruptcy trustee and foreign
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' (iij any of the matters addressed herein, or (iii) any of Claimant’s obligations hereunder, including, ‘
without limitation, any obligations that may arise under paragraph 5 hereof.

8, This Agreement states the entire agreement rea.ched between the Parties hereto.

Rod J. Rosenstein

' | L ‘ United States Attorney
\[0 /26 m Y Ve

Date P Evan T. Shea
e * Assistant United States Attorney

Daniel J. Saval, Esquire
" Brown Rudnick LLP
Attomney for Banruptcy Trusteee of MtGox, Co., Ltd

~ Nobuaki Kobayashi
Solely in his Representative Capacity as Bankruptcy
Trustee of MtGox, Co., Ltd. and not individually




[Translation]

| hereby certify that the application hereunder was approved on February 1st,

2017. JEAL
February 1st, 2017
Daihachiro Asaka, Court Clerk, the 20th Civil Division, Tokyo District Court

2014 (fu) No. 3830
February 1st, 2017

To: The 20th Civil Division, Tokyo District Court

APPLICATION FOR APPROVAL OF SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

Bankrupt Entity MtGox Co., Ltd.

Bankruptcy Trustee  Nobuaki Kobayashi, Attorney a

PURPOSE OF APPLICATION
| hereby seek the approval by the court of the execution of the attached
Settlement Agreement with the U.S. Department of Justice (“D0J”) with the following

terms and conditions (such settlement agreement, the “Settlement Agreement”):

(1) DOJ agrees to release a total of USS 2,571,201.10 (the “Released Funds”) out of
USS 5,142,402.20, in aggregate, of the deposited funds seized by the U.S.
Government (the “Seized Funds”) within five business days of the satisfaction

of the conditions set forth in (2) below into the bank account to be designated


SCATH
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by the Bankruptcy Trustee, the breakdown of which is shown as follows:
(@) USS 2,117,414.96 out of the Seized Funds held under USSS case no.

101-777-40003-) and seizure number 101-2013-004;

(b) USS 109,479.84 out of the Seized Funds held under USSS case no.
101-777-4003-J and seizure number 101-2013-006; and

(c) USS 344,306,30 out of the Seized Funds held under CBP case no.
2013-1303-001294-01;

(2) The Settlement Agreement shall become effective upon satisfaction of the

conditions in (a) and (b) below:

(a) the entry of an order by the Chapter 15 court or any other court of
competent jurisdiction ordering:

(i) approval of the Settlement Agreement;

(i) approval of the transfer of the Released Funds to the Bankruptcy
Trustee pursuant to Sections 363 and 1520(a)(2) of the U.S. Bankruptcy
Code;

(iii) approval of the repatriation of the Released Funds to Japan for use in
the Japan Bankruptcy Proceeding pursuant to Section 1521(b) of the U.S.
Bankruptcy Code;

(iv) any other and further release necessary to effectuate the Settlement
Agreement; and

(b) the entry of an order by the Tokyo District Court approving the Settlement

Agreement and granting any other and further relief necessary to effectuate

the Settlement Agreement;

(3) Bankruptcy Trustee agrees to withdraw the claims as to the remaining Seized



(4)

(5)

Assets, and agrees to forfeit all rights and interest in that portion of the Seized
Funds to the Government (the “Forfeited Funds”);

DOJ and Bankruptcy Trustee agree that, if necessary, DOJ may submit a copy of
the Settlement Agreement to the Maryland Court in support of a legal action to
seek judicial forfeiture of the Forfeited Funds. DOJ acknowledges that the
approval of the Maryland Court is not required for the transfer of the Released
Funds; and

Bankrupt Entity agrees to indemnify and hold DOJ harmless from and against
any and all damages arising out of the release of the Released Funds; provided
however, that the amount to be indemnified or held harmless shall not exceed
the amount of the Released Funds. Each party shall bear its own costs and
expenses including attorney’s fees in connection with the negotiation,

documentation and seeking of any approval of the Settlement Agreement.

Grounds for Application

Summary of Background

The deposited amount of USS 5,142,402.20 in the U.S. bank account held in
the name of Mutum Sigillum LLC, an affiliate of Bankrupt Entity, was seized by the
U.S. Department of Homeland Security in May 2013.

Since the seized funds above actually belonged to Bankrupt Entity, if the said
funds were to be released by the U.S. government, they would constitute a part of
the bankrupt estate. Therefore, Bankruptcy Trustee has continued negotiating with
DOJ, who is in charge of the release of the seized funds. Now, Bankruptcy Trustee

and DOJ have reached an agreement on the terms and conditions of the release of



the Seized Funds.

Necessity and Appropriateness

Since the Seized Funds actually belong to Bankrupt Entity, as long as these are
the funds to be released by the U.S. government, Bankruptcy Trustee owes an
obligation to collect and add them to the bankrupt estate promptly. Without the
Settlement Agreement, Bankruptcy Trustee would have to seek other remedies,
including filing a motion to release the Seized Funds from DOJ and seeking a
discovery order against the U.S. government or making an indemnity claim against
prosecutors of DOJ and the U.S. government for the damages incurred by Bankrupt
Entity. However, taking into consideration the time and costs necessary for the
other remedies and the likelihood of success in collection of the Seized Funds, as
well as the advice by Brown Rudnick LLP, the U.S. counsel to Bankruptcy Trustee, as
long as the terms and conditions of settlement with DOJ are reasonable, it is
preferable to collect the Seized Funds from DOJ in a prompt manner through the
settlement, and the execution of the Settlement Agreement is needed for that
purpose.

Further, according to Brown Rudnick LLP, Bankruptcy Trustee understands that
the U.S. government has broad discretion as to forfeiture under U.S. law, and as long
as the requirements are met, the U.S. government is allowed to forfeit the funds, no
matter what the purpose of forfeiture is. Given the advice by Brown Rudnick LLP
and DOJ’s attitude in the negotiation so far, it would be difficult to gain further
compromise from DOJ, and taking into account the time, costs and expected success

of the other remedies as discussed above, it is hard to expect that Bankruptcy



Trustee will collect more than the amount agreed in the Settlement Agreement.
Further, the amount of USS 2,571,201.10 (approximately JPY 291,628,199) would be
significant income to the bankrupt estate.

Given the above, it is necessary and appropriate to sign the Settlement

Agreement.

Now, therefore, | hereby apply for the approval.

ATTACHMENT

1 A copy of the Settlement Agreement 1 copy

End
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[Translation]

Tokyo District Court 2014 (fu) No. 3830
Bankrupt Entity: MtGox Co., Ltd.

Report

September 28, 2016

To: Tokyo District Court, Collegiate Section of 20th Civil Division

Bankrupt Entity: MtGox Co., Ltd.
Bankruptcy Trustee: Nobuaki Kobayashi, Attorney-at-law

Past Events and Present Situation Concerning Bankruptcy Estate
Present Situation of Bankruptcy Estate

The status of the bankruptcy estate, based on the investigation conducted up to the
time of preparation of this Report, is as shown in the List of Assets and the Balance
Sheet, and the balance in the account that | have secured as of September 27, 2016
is JPY 1,054,483,013, i.e., a decrease of approximately JPY 10,200,000 from the
time of the 6th creditors’ meeting.

However, since the investigation of the status of the holdings of BTC is still on-going,
such List of Assets and Balance Sheet do not contain BTC held by the bankrupt
entity.

2. Status of Management of BTC

The amount of BTC managed by the bankruptcy estate as of September 21, 2016 is
202,185.35450043BTC.  Currently, I am still investigating the existence of
additional BTC held by the bankrupt entity, and it is planned that, as soon as such
BTC are found, I will move them to the address which | manage, and I will keep
such BTC there.



Status of Investigation of Bankruptcy Claims

Status of Filing of Bankruptcy Claims and Acceptance or Rejection of

Claims

On May 25, 2016, the date of the investigation of claims, I completed the task of
accepting or rejecting each of the claims against the Bankrupt Entity seeking a
refund of BTC or money that was filed by users of the Bankrupt Entity’s Bitcoin
exchange (such users, the “Users”; and such claims, the “Bankruptcy Claims
Related to Exchange”).

A summary of the status of filings of bankruptcy claims and the acceptance or
rejection of claims as of May 25, 2016, is shown below.

Number Total amount of Total amount of | Total amount of claims
of persons | claims filed *1 claims that have | that have been
who filed been accepted rejected *1
claims *1
Creditors who filed a claim | 24,750 JPY JPY JPY
only with respect to the persons 263,519,268,303,371 45,609,593,503 | 263,473,658,709,868
Bankruptcy Claims Related
to Exchange

*1 All amounts have been converted into JPY.

Thereafter, out of the claims that | had rejected, | have retracted my objection
against claims by 19 creditors, the total amount of which is 34,884,662 yen, and
accepted them.

In addition, to date, 137 petitions for assessment, the total amount of which is
2,220,868,159 yen (principal amount), have been filed; please note, however, that
these figures include petitions that were improperly filed.
I am currently reviewing the documents filed in connection with these petitions,
and planning to submit my written answers in due course.

2. Status of Filings of Claims Other than the Bankruptcy Claims Related to
Exchange

With respect to creditors who filed claims other than Bankruptcy Claims Related to
Exchange, these claims have been accepted or rejected at the investigation of claims
that was held on September 9, 2015; however, there was a petition for a bankruptcy



1.

claim assessment from two of the creditors, and the assessment is currently under
way.

Investigation of Disappearance of BTC, etc.

I am conducting investigations into whether any BTC or money in other currencies
that were possessed by or under the control of the bankrupt entity have disappeared,
and if they have, the events leading to such disappearance by delegating such work
to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu LLC (and its affiliates) and ReEx Accounting Firm, as
well as by obtaining the assistance of our supporting company, Payward.
Additionally, while Robert Marie Mark Karpeles was arrested and prosecuted as
stated below, following a request made by investigation agencies such as the
Metropolitan Police Department to cooperate with their investigation, | have been
providing and will continue to provide them with cooperation as much as possible.
In connection with such police investigation, the careful treatment of information
relating to the investigation is now needed.

Due to the circumstances, such as the limited amount of information that exists, |
believe it will be difficult to understand the full picture; however, I am planning to
continue these investigations, as much as possible. We are planning to disclose
the results of the aforesaid investigation at the appropriate time, in the appropriate
manner and with the appropriate content, taking into account concerns as to privacy,
etc.

Affiliated Companies

The bankrupt entity has several affiliated companies (parent company, etc.), and has
claims based on loan receivables, etc. against the following companies, etc.
Therefore, I am making efforts to collect such loan receivables.

TIBANNE Co., Ltd.

On May 15, 2015, in the bankruptcy proceedings against TIBANNE Co., Ltd.,
which is the parent company of the bankrupt entity (Tokyo District Court 2015 (fu)
No. 585), I filed a bankruptcy claim (the total amount of the bankruptcy claim that
was filed is JPY 25,841,657,102; however, | have withdrawn a portion of that claim
in the amount of JPY 306,362,100 on November 19, 2015). Mr. Taro Awataguchi,



who is the bankruptcy trustee of TIBANNE, made an objection to the claim;
therefore, | filed a motion seeking an assessment of the bankruptcy claim on
October 13, 2015. The assessment is currently being processed under the
bankruptcy proceeding of TIBANNE, Co., Ltd.

2. K.K. Bitcoin. Café

With regard to the objection raised by TOKYU CONSTRUCTION CO., LTD., a
creditor of K.K. Bitcoin. Café, against my filing of a bankruptcy claim (the amount
of the bankruptcy claim is JPY 60,710,136) in the bankruptcy proceeding against
K.K. Bitcoin. Café (Tokyo District Court 2014 (fu) No. 5603), the hearing in the
appeal case regarding the objection to the bankruptcy claim assessment (Tokyo
High Court 2016 (ne) No. 1479) was held before the Tokyo High Court, where
TOKYU CONSTRUCTION CO., LTD. was the appellant and | was the appellee.
The decision of the Tokyo High Court, which was entered on July 13, 2016,
generally held that the appeal was to be dismissed, and therefore, the decision by
the court of first instance approving the aforesaid bankruptcy claim that | had filed
was upheld. However, TOKYU CONSTRUCTION CO., LTD. was not satisfied
with the aforesaid decision entered by the Tokyo High Court, and filed a final
appeal as well as a petition for acceptance of final appeal on July 26, 2016.

3. Robert Marie Mark Karpeles

| filed a petition for the commencement of bankruptcy proceeding regarding Robert
Marie Mark Karpeles, who is the representative director of the bankrupt entity, with
the court on October 23, 2015. As a result, the commencement of the bankruptcy
proceeding against Mr. Karpeles was determined on November 10, 2015, and Ms.
Masako Sakaguchi was appointed as the bankruptcy trustee.

Robert Marie Mark Karpeles was prosecuted on September 11, 2015 on the charges
of unauthorized creation and use of private electromagnetic records and suspicion
of corporate embezzlement. Furthermore, he was subsequently prosecuted on
November 18, 2015 on the same charges of unauthorized creation and use of
private electromagnetic records and suspicion of corporate embezzlement. He was
released on bail on July 14, 2016.

V. Existence of Circumstances Requiring a Temporary Restraining Order, as



Stipulated in Article 177, Paragraph 1 of the Bankruptcy Act, and Officer’s
Liability Assessment Order, as Stipulated in Article 178, Paragraph 1 of the
Bankruptcy Act

With respect to the existence of circumstances requiring a temporary restraining
order, as stipulated in Article 177, Paragraph 1 of the Bankruptcy Act, and officer’s
liability assessment order, as stipulated in Article 178, Paragraph 1 of the
Bankruptcy Act, an investigation is still required to take place concurrently with the
investigation stated in section 111 above.

VI. Matters regarding Progress of Bankruptcy Proceedings
1. Probability of Distribution, etc.

Now that all bankruptcy claims have been accepted or rejected, henceforth, | wish
to proceed to the distribution process as soon as possible. However, the detailed
schedule thereof will inevitably be affected by each creditor’s response to the
acceptance or rejection of his or her claim, etc. Therefore, at present, the
possibility of carrying out a distribution and the timing and method thereof, etc.
have not yet been determined.

I will continue to consider whether, in the case where a distribution is possible, a
distribution will be made by way of distributing BTC.

2. Provision of Other Necessary Information on Website

Since an extremely large number of creditors exist worldwide in this case, as much
as possible, I plan to disclose information, etc., that are necessary for creditors to be
aware of regarding this case on the website that | manage (https://www.mtgox.com)
from time to time.

End of document

* This translation is prepared for reference purposes only. The Japanese version is the original and
if there is any discrepancy between the Japanese original and this translation, the Japanese original
supersedes and governs.



[Case Number:] Tokyo District Court 2014 (fu) No. 3830
Bankrupt Entity: MtGox Co., Ltd.
Bankruptcy Trustee: Nobuaki Kobayashi, Attorney-at-law

[Translation]

List of Assets
(As of April 24, 2014, the date of the order of commencement of bankruptcy proceedings)
Assets (In JPY)
Book value Appraised amount
No. Item 1 (amount incorporated into Remarks
the bankruptcy estate)*2
1 |Cash and deposits 1,336,251 1,359,603
Cash 0 0
Mizuho Bank, Shibuya Branch, Ordinary deposit account No.1457705 120,000 152,602 The account has been closed, and the cash in the account has already been transferred into the
account of the trustee.
Mizuho Bank, Shibuya Branch, Ordinary deposit account No.1497669 0 47 The account has been closed, and the cash in the account has already been transferred into the
account of the trustee.
Mizuho Bank, Shibuya Branch, Foreign currency ordinary deposit account No. 0 Currency: USD; The account has been closed, and the cash in the account has already been
9110151 transferred into the account of the trustee.
Mizuho Bank, Shibuya Branch, Foreign currency ordinary deposit account No. Currency: GBP; The account has been closed, and the cash in the account has already been
0 -
9110186 transferred into the account of the trustee.
Mizuho Bank, Shibuya Branch, Foreign currency ordinary deposit account No. Currency: AUD; The account has been closed, and the cash in the account has already been
0 97 .
9110216 transferred into the account of the trustee.
Mizuho Bank, Shibuya Branch, Foreign currency ordinary deposit account No. 0 Currency: NZD; The account has been closed, and the cash in the account has already been
9110267 transferred into the account of the trustee.
Mizuho Bank, Shibuya Branch, Foreign currency ordinary deposit account No. Currency: DKK; The account has been closed, and the cash in the account has already been
91 87 -
9110232 transferred into the account of the trustee.
Mizuho Bank, Shibuya Branch, Foreign currency ordinary deposit account No. Currency: HKD; The account has been closed, and the cash in the account has already been
28 26 .
9110275 transferred into the account of the trustee.
Mizuho Bank, Shibuya Branch, Foreign currency ordinary deposit account No. Currency: SGD; The account has been closed, and the cash in the account has already been
25 25 .
9110283 transferred into the account of the trustee.
Mizuho Bank, Shibuya Branch, Foreign currency ordinary deposit account No. Currency: CHF; The account has been closed, and the cash in the account has already been
89 87 :
9110259 transferred into the account of the trustee.
Yucho Bank, Shibuya Branch, Consolidated account No. 10170-48410711 945 945 The account has been closed, and the cash in the account has already been transferred into the
account of the trustee.
Rakuten Bank, Second Sales Branch, Ordinary deposit account No. 7018261 279,457 279,213 The account has been closed, and the cash in the account has already been transferred into the
account of the trustee.
Japan Net Bank, Suzume Branch, Ordinary deposit account No.2559084 596,168 596,168 The account has been closed, and the cash in the account has already been transferred into the
account of the trustee.
Yachiyo Bank, Shibuya Branch, Ordinary deposit account No. 0623839 7 The account has been closed, and the cash in the account has already been transferred into the
account of the trustee.
Yachiyo Bank, Shibuya Branch, Foreign currency ordinary deposit account Currency: AUD; The account has been closed, and the cash in the account has already been
95,357 93,468 )
No. 0623949 transferred into the account of the trustee.
Yachiyo Bank, Shibuya Branch, Foreign currency ordinary deposit accountNo. Currency: EUR; The account has been closed, and the cash in the account has already been
141,608 136,041 -
0623950 transferred into the account of the trustee.
Yachiyo Bank, Shibuya Branch, Foreign currency ordinary deposit account Currency: USD; The account has been closed, and the cash in the account has already been
102,476 100,677 -
No. 0623938 transferred into the account of the trustee.
Resona Bank, Shibuya Branch, Ordinary deposit account No.2973992 0 100 The account has been closed, and the cash in the account has already been transferred into the

1/3

account of the trustee.




Appraised amount

2/3

No. Item BOOlilv alue (amount incorporated into Remarks
the bankruptcy estate)*2
2 Short-term loans 1,307,423,210 46,686,362 The appraised amount is based on the amount actually converted into cash on or prior to
September 27, 2016.
This company is an affiliated company of the bankrupt, and an order of commencement of
TIBANNE Co., Ltd. 772,791,001 0/bankruptcy proceedings for such company was issued on January 30, 2015. The filing of proof
of claims has already been completed.
K K. Shade3D 338,139,321 46,686,362 This company is an affiliated company of the bankrupt. Collected under the claim assignment
agreement on September 29, 2015.
This company is an affiliated company of the bankrupt, and an order of commencement of
K.K. Bitcoin.Café 60,000,000 0 bankruptcy proceedings for such company was issued on June 18, 2014. The filing of proof of
claims has already been completed.
Robert Marie Mark Karpeles 136,175,781 This person is the representative (_Jf the bankrupt, and an order of commencement of bankruptcy
proceedings for such person was issued on November 10, 2015.
MTGOX HongKong 317,107 Th_ls company is an affiliated company of the bankrupt. Repayment of the loan is currently
being requested.
3 Accounts receivable 925,826 331,600 The appraised amount is based on the amount actually converted into cash on or prior to
September 27, 2016.
TIBANNE Co., Ltd 562,026 This company |s_the parent company of the bankrupt. The accounts receivable against this
company comprise of accrued interest on the loan.
Shibuya Tax Office (Interim payment of corporation tax) 242,200 243,900 Tax refund was paid into the account of the trustee on July 24, 2014.
Shlb_uya Metropolltan_ Taxation Office (Interim payment of enterprise tax and 80,800 80,800 Tax refund was paid into the account of the trustee on July 29, 2014.
special local corporation tax)
Shibuya Metropolitan Taxation Office (Interim payment of inhabitants tax on Upon balancing by taxation on a per capita basis, a tax refund was paid into the account of the
. - 40,800 6,900
corporation tax basis) trustee on July 29, 2014.
4 |Provisional payment (to the Tokyo District Court) 2,000,000 2,000,000 Collected on June 4, 2014
5 Deposits paid 783,948,565 862,720,420 The appraised amount is based on the amount actually converted into cash on or prior to
September 27, 2016.
Counsel for applicant 241,459,630 231,557,866 The money deposited was already succeeded at the appraised amount on May 12, 2014.
Counsel for applicant 509,510,685 500,698,397 | The money deposited was already succeeded at the appraised amount on May 9, 2014.
Counsel for applicant 32,978,250 32,977,386 The money deposited was already succeeded at the appraised amount on May 8, 2014.
Others 0 97,486,771 Collected on January 7, 2015
6 |Money deposited with other companies 1,603,444,088 706,433,012 The appraised amount is based on the amount actually converted into cash on or prior to
September 27, 2016.
CoinLab 500,000,000 0/Pending litigation
Others 1,103,444,088 706,433,012 Partly {:o_l I_ected. As for the residual amount, the trustee is collecting and/or reviewing the
collectibility.
7 Tools, furniture and fixtures 104,557,699 32,582,300 The appraised amount is based on the amount actually converted into cash on or prior to
September 27, 2016.
DELL Server 5,649,000 ) ) )
Violin Server 90,623,142 32,382,300 tShoel(:rggtel\(l?ovember 27,2014. The consideration has already been transferred into the account of
Apple Japan; 28 laptop computers 5,383,438
Chair 2,902,119 200,000 Sold on June 8, 2015. The consideration has already been transferred into the account of the

trustee.



Appraised amount

No. Item BOOlilv alue (amount incorporated into Remarks
the bankruptcy estate)*2
. . The appraised amount is based on the amount actually converted into cash on or prior to
8 |Security deposit 700,000 0 September 27, 2016.
The Executive Center Japan K.K. 540,000 0/The contract has been cancelled. Irrecoverable
The Executive Center Japan K.K. (Security deposit for parking spaces) 160,000 0/The contract has been cancelled. Irrecoverable
9 | Guaranty money deposited 10,586,875 10,587,933 This is a refund of the money for release from provisional seizure deposited by the bankrupt and
has already been collected.
10 | Development expenses 85,875,146 0 The appraised amount is based on the amount actually converted into cash on or prior to
September 27, 2016.
Applico Inc. 33,453,375 0/No value
Internet Escrow Services 3,073,459 0/No value
Mandalah KK 31,993,500 0/No value
The Phuse Inc. 4,572,513 0/No value
Winsoft Technology Solutions Inc. 12,782,299 This development expense is currently under investigation, but may be an expense spent in the
past and may have no value.
11 |Interest income 0 356,617 Interest on deposit
Prepayment for filing bankruptcy 0 18,063,297
Prepayment for filing bankruptcy against Robert Marie Mark Karpeles 0 3,026,000 Return of prepayment for filing bankruptcy against Robert Marie Mark Karpeles (including
return of postal stamps, etc.)
12 | Prepayment for filing bankruptcy against TIBANNE Co., Ltd. 0 15,037,297 ;it;nn of prepayment for filing bankruptcy against TIBANNE (including return of postal stamps,
Total assets *3 3,990,797,660 1,681,121,144
Liabilities
No. Item Book value Reported amount Remarks
Claims on the estate and preferred bankruptcy claims (Taxes and other public The amount has not yet
1 54,374,152 .
charges) been determined.
Claims on the estate (Other expenses) 19,253,642 The amount has_ not yet
been determined.
2 |General bankruptcy claims (the “Bankruptcy Claims Related to Exchange™) 8,256,092,214 263,519,268,303,371
General bankruptcy claims (Transacting parties, etc.) 402,470,293 13,119,083,453

Total liabilities *3

8,732,190,301

The amount has not yet
been determined.

*1 The amounts stated in the "book value" column are, as a rule, entered by referring to the book value as of April 24, 2014, and such amounts do not correspond to their respective amounts of proceeds from their conversion into cash.

*2 As arule, the "appraised amount (amount incorporated into the bankruptcy estate)" shows the amount actually collected on or prior to September 27, 2016.
*3 The bitcoins held by the bankrupt entity are not included in the assets set forth above. In addition, the amount of bitcoins managed by the bankruptcy estate as of September 21, 2016 is 202,185.35450043 BTC.

*4 This list has been prepared based on the investigation results at the present point in time, and assets or liabilities not included in this list may be discovered as a result of further investigation.

* This translation is prepared for reference purpose only. The Japanese version is the original and if there is any discrepancy between the Japanese original and this translation, the Japanese original supersedes and governs.
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[Translation]

Income and Expenditure Statement

From April 24, 2014
Through September 27, 2016
[Case Number:] Tokyo District Court 2014 (fu) No. 3830
Bankrupt Entity: MtGox Co., Ltd.
Bankruptcy Trustee: Nobuaki Kobayashi, Attorney-at-law

(InJPY)
Income Expenditure
No. Abstract Amount No. Abstract Amount
1 |Cash and deposits succeeded from the 766,593,252 1 |Office expenses 30,191,242
bankrupt
2 |Deposits succeeded from the court 2,000,000 2 Expenses for notlce_of commencement of 6,890,292
bankruptcy proceedings to bankruptcy
3 |Collection of monies deposited 10,587,933 3 |Supplies expenses 8,840,785
4 lInterest income 356,617 4 |Professional fees 275,530,917
5 |Taxrefund 331,600 5 |Outsourcing fees 125,418,228
6 Collection of money deposited with 706,433,012 6 Settlement l\{lonfey (Expense for terminating 6,310,433
other companies telecommunication related agreement)
Money provided as assistance by
7 Paywar d undgr the contract for . 32,382,300 7  [Transportation expenses 298,930
providing assistance and others in
bankruptcy proceedings
8  [Collection of deposits paid 97,486,771 8 (I?fe;?cteand deposit for the bankruptcy trustee's 5,260,540
9 Proceeds from sale of fixtures 200,000 9 Tax an'd public dues (withholding tax of 29,010,413
trustee's fee, etc.)
10 |Price forassignment of loan to K.K. 46,686,362| | 10 |Call center expense 6,335,718
Shade3D
Return of prepayment for filing
bankruptcy against Robert Marie Prepayment for filing bankruptcy against
1 Mark Karpeles (including return of 3,026,000 1 TIBANNE 15,000,000
postal stamps, etc.)
Return of prepayment tor Tiling
1o |Pankruptey against TIBANNE 15037,297| | 12 [Trustee's fee 114,550,633
(including return of postal stamps,
etc.)
Prepayment for filing bankruptcy against
13 Robert Marie Mark Karpeles 3,000,000
Total 1,681,121,144 Total 626,638,131
Balance 1,054,483,013

* This translation is prepared for reference purpose only. The Japanese version is the original and if there is any discrepancy
between the Japanese original and this translation, the Japanese original supersedes and governs.




[Translation]

[Case Number:] Tokyo District Court 2014 (fu) No. 3830

Bankrupt Entity: MtGox Co., Ltd.

Bankruptcy Trustee: Nobuaki Kobayashi, Attorney-at-law

(As of April 24, 2014, the date of the order of commencement of bankruptcy proceedings)

[Bankruptcy] Balance Sheet

In JPY
Appraised amount
(amount incorporated -
Item into the bankruptcy Item Filling amount
estate)*1
Cash and deposits 1350603  |Claims on the estate and *3 73,627,794
preferred bankruptcy claims
Short-term loans 46,686,362 General bankruptcy claims 263,532,387,386,324
Accounts receivable 331,600
Provisional payment 2,000,000
Deposits paid 862,720,420
Money er03|ted with other 706,433,012
companies
Tools, furniture and fixtures 32,582,300
Security deposit 0
Guaranty money deposited 10,587,933
Development expenses 0
Interest income 356,617
Prepayment for filing bankruptcy 18,063,297
Total assets *2 1,681,121,144 Total liabilities 263,532,461,014,618

*1 The "appraised amount (amount incorporated into the bankruptcy estate)" shows the amount actually collected on
or prior to September 27, 2016.

*2 The bitcoins held by the bankrupt entity are not included in the assets set forth above.In addition, the amount of
bitcoins managed by the bankruptcy estate as of September 21, 2016 is 202,185.35450043 BTC.

*3 The amounts of these liabilities are based on the book value of the bankrupt at the time of the order of
commencement of bankruptcy proceedings because requests for distribution have not yet been completed.

*4 This balance sheet has been prepared based on the investigation results at the present point in time, and assets or
liabilities not included in this balance sheet may be discovered as a result of further investigation.

* This translation is prepared for reference purpose only. The Japanese version is the original and if there is any
discrepancy between the Japanese original and this translation, the Japanese original supersedes and governs.




IN THE UNITED STATESBANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
DALLASDIVISION

Inre Chapter 15

MtGox Co., Ltd. (alk/a MtGox KK), Case No. 14-31229-sgj-15

Debtor in a Foreign Proceeding.

ORDER APPROVING (1) SETTLEMENT
AGREEMENT WITH U.S. GOVERNMENT;
(1) TRANSFER OF SEIZED FUNDS IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT, PURSUANT
TO 11 U.S.C. §8363 AND 1520(a)(2); AND (I11) REPATRIATION
OF THE RELEASED FUNDS TO JAPAN FOR DISTRIBUTION IN THE
JAPAN BANKRUPTCY PROCEEDING PURSUANT TO 11 U.S.C § 1521(b)

This matter coming before the Court on the motion (the “Motion”) of Nobuaki
Kobayashi, in his capacity as the bankruptcy trustee and foreign representative (the “Foreign
Representative’) of MtGox Co., Ltd., ak/a MtGox KK, a debtor in a bankruptcy proceeding

under Japanese law (the “Japan Bankruptcy”), currently pending before the Twentieth Civil

Divison of the Tokyo District Court, Japan, for an Order: (i) approving the Settlement



Agreement;* (i) pursuant to Bankruptcy Code Sections 363 and 1520(a)(2), approving the
transfer of Released Funds to the Foreign Representative and the forfeiture of the Forfeited
Funds to the Government in accordance with the Settlement Agreement; and (iii) pursuant to
Bankruptcy Code Section 1521(b), approving the repatriation of the Released Funds to Japan for
distribution in the Japan Bankruptcy; and the Court having jurisdiction over this Motion pursuant
to 28 U.S.C. 88 157 and 1334; and the Court having determined that the legal and factual bases
set forth in the Motion establish cause for the relief granted herein;

IT ISHEREBY ORDERED that the Motion is granted to the extent set forth herein;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Settlement Agreement is approved pursuant to 11
U.S.C. 88 363 and 1520(a)(2) insofar as it provides for the transfer of an interest of the Debtor in
property within the territorial jurisdiction of the United States,

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, pursuant to 11 U.S.C. 88 363 and 1520(a)(2), the
Released Funds are authorized to be transferred to the Foreign Representative, and the Foreign
Representative is authorized to forfeit the Forfeited Funds to the Government in accordance with
the Settlement Agreement;

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, pursuant to 11 U.S.C. 8 1521(b), the Released Funds
are authorized to be repatriated to Japan for distribution in the Japan Bankruptcy; and

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Court retains jurisdiction to hear and determine all
matters arising from or related to the implementation, interpretation and enforcement of this
Order.

# End of Order #HH¢t

1 Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Motion.



David J. Molton

Daniel J. Saval

BROWN RUDNICK LLP

Seven Times Square

New York, New York 10036
Telephone: (212) 209-4800
Facsimile: (212) 209-4801

Email: dmolton@brownrudnick.com
Email: dsava @brownrudnick.com

-and -

Marcus A. Helt (TX 24052187)
Thomas Scannell (TX 24070559)
GARDERE WYNNE SEWELL LLP
2021 McKinney Avenue, Suite 1600
Dallas, TX 75201

Telephone: (214) 999-3000
Facsimile: (214) 999-4667

Email: mhelt@gardere.com

Email: tscannell @gardere.com

Counsel for Nobuaki Kobayashi, in his capacity

as the Bankruptcy Trustee and Foreign Representative

of MtGox Co., Ltd., a’k/a MtGox KK

IN THE UNITED STATESBANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

Inre

MtGox Co., Ltd. (alk/a MtGox KK),

Debtor in aForeign Proceeding.

DALLASDIVISION

Chapter 15

Case No. 14-31229-sgj-15

NOTICE OF HEARING

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that a hearing on the Foreign Representative’s Motion for an
Order Approving (1) Settlement Agreement with U.S. Government; (I1) Transfer of Seized Funds
in Accordance with the Settlement Agreement Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. 88 363 and 1520(a)(2); and

(1) Repatriation of Released Funds to Japan for Distribution in the Japan Bankruptcy

NOTICE OF HEARING

Gardere01 - 10045299v.1



Proceedings Pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 1521(b) [Docket No. 174] has been scheduled for April 24,

2017, at 9:30a.m. (prevailing Central time) before the Honorable Stacey G. C. Jernigan,

United States Bankruptcy Judge for the Northern District of Texas, 1100 Commerce Street,

Courtroom 1428, Ddllas, Texas 75242-1496.

Dated: February 28, 2017 Respectfully submitted,
GARDERE WYNNE SEWELL LLP

/9 Thomas Scannell

Marcus A. Helt (TX 24052187)
Thomas Scannell (TX 24070559)
Gardere Wynne Sewell LLP

2021 McKinney Avenue, Suite 1600
Dallas, TX 75201

Telephone: (214) 999-3000
Facsimile: (214) 999-4667

Email: mhelt@gardere.com

Email: tscannell @gardere.com

-and -

BROWN RUDNICK LLP

David J. Molton

Danidl J. Saval

Seven Times Square

New York, New York 10036
Telephone: (212) 209-4800
Facsimile: (212) 209-4801

Email: dmolton@brownrudnick.com
Email: dsava @brownrudnick.com

Counsel for Nobuaki Kobayashi, in his capacity
asthe Trustee and Foreign Representative
of MtGox Co., Ltd., a/lk/a MtGox KK
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